

Prepared in cooperation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011— Collection Methods, Analyses Methods, Quality Assurance, and Data



Data Series 723

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

Cover photograph: U.S. Geological Survey personnel collecting bottom-sediment samples on Superior Bay near Duluth, Minnesota. Photograph taken by Minnesota Pollution Control Employee, 8/4/2010.

Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011—Collection Methods, Analyses Methods, Quality Assurance, and Data

By Kathy E. Lee, Susan K. Langer, Michael A. Menheer, William T. Foreman, Edward T. Furlong, and Steven G. Smith

Prepared in cooperation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Data Series 723

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

U.S. Department of the Interior

KEN SALAZAR, Secretary

U.S. Geological Survey

Marcia K. McNutt, Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2012

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment, visit http://www.usgs.gov or call 1–888–ASK–USGS.

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit http://www.usgs.gov/pubprod

To order this and other USGS information products, visit http://store.usgs.gov

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

Suggested citation:

Lee, K.E., Langer, S.K., Menheer, M.A., Foreman, W.T., Furlong, E.T., and Smith, S.G., 2012, Chemicals of emerging concern in water and bottom sediment in Great Lakes areas of concern, 2010 to 2011—Collection methods, analyses methods, quality assurance, and data: U.S. Geological Survey Data Series 723, 26 p.

Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Study Locations	2
Sample Collection	2
Water-Sample Collection	6
Bottom-Sediment Sample Collection	6
Sample Analyses	7
Water Chemical Analyses	7
Bottom-Sediment Chemical Analyses	7
Quality Assurance	8
Database Integrity	8
Laboratory Reporting Levels	8
Laboratory and Field Quality-Control Data	9
Laboratory Blank Samples	9
Laboratory Reagent Spike Samples	10
Field Quality-Assurance Data	10
Field Blank Water Samples	11
Field Duplicate Samples	11
Field Matrix Spike Samples	11
Surrogate and Isotope Dilution Standard Recoveries	13
Study Data	13
Water-Quality Properties	13
Water Data	15
Bottom-Sediment Data	15
Tentatively Identified Chemicals in Water Samples	15
Summary	15
Selected References	16
Appendixes 1–3	25

Figure

1.	Map showing locations of Great Lakes areas of concern where samples were col-
	lected during 2010–11

Tables

1.	List of sampling sites, station identifiers, field identifiers, latitude, longitude, and sampling year for water and bottom-sediment samples.	.4
2.	Properties and chemicals analyzed in water or bottom-sediment samples.	.7
3.	Percent recovery of the method analytes fortified at low concentrations in water samples and summary statistics	10
4.	Percent recovery of the method analytes fortified at low concentrations in bottom- sediment samples and summary statistics	10
5.	Summary of relative percent difference and detection consistency for field duplicate water and bottom-sediment sample pairs	11
6.	Summary of surrogate or isotope dilution standard chemical recoveries in water and bottom-sediment samples	14

Conversion Factors

SI to Inch/Pound

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
centimeter (cm)	0.3937	inch (in.)
	Volume	
liter (L)	33.82	ounce, fluid (fl. oz)
liter (L)	2.113	pint (pt)
liter (L)	1.057	quart (qt)
liter (L)	0.2642	gallon (gal)
liter (L)	61.02	cubic inch (in ³)
milliliter (mL)	0.0338	ounce, fluid (fl. oz)
microliter (µL)	0.0000338	ounce, fluid (fl. oz)
	Flow rate	
liter per minute (L/min)	0.2642	gallon per minute (gal/min)
	Mass	
gram (g)	0.03527	ounce, avoirdupois (oz)
	Pressure	
megapascal (MPa)	145.0	pounds per square inch (lb/in ²)

Temperature in degrees Celsius (°C) may be converted to degrees Fahrenheit (°F) as follows: $^{\circ}F=(1.8\times^{\circ}C)+32$.

Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83).

Specific conductance is given in microsiemens per centimeter at 25 degrees Celsius (μ S/cm at 25 °C).

Concentrations of chemical constituents in water are given in milligrams per liter (mg/L), micrograms per liter (μ g/L), or nanograms per liter (ng/L). Concentrations of chemical constituents in bottom sediment are given in grams per kilogram (g/kg) or nanograms per gram (ng/g).

Abbreviations and Symbols

<	less than
AOC	area of concern
ASE	accelerated solvent extraction
BHA	3- <i>tert</i> -butyl-4-hydroxy anisole
¹³ C	carbon-13
CEC	chemical of concern
C _f	value in dataset that was flagged because of detections in field blank samples
C,	value in dataset that was flagged because of detections in laboratory blank samples
DEET	<i>N,N-</i> diethyl <i>-meta-</i> toluamide
E	estimated
EAC	endocrine-active chemical
HPLC/MS/MS	high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry
GC/MS/MS	gas chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry
IDS	isotope dilution standard
LRL	laboratory reporting level
mPR	mean percent recovery
ng	nanogram
NR	not reported
NWIS	National Water Information System
NWQL	National Water Quality Laboratory
PLE	pressurized liquid extraction
PR	percent recovery
RPD	relative percent difference
SPE	solid-phase extraction
TIC	tentatively identified chemical
USEPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
USFWS	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
USGS	U.S. Geological Survey
v/v	volume per volume
WLSSD	Western Lake Sanitary Sewer District
WWTP	wastewater-treatment plant

Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011—Collection Methods, Analytical Methods, Quality Assurance Analyses, and Data

By Kathy E. Lee, Susan K. Langer, Michael A. Menheer, William T. Foreman, Edward T. Furlong, and Steven G. Smith

Abstract

Synoptic surveys of surface-water quality across the United States have detected a large group of organic chemicals associated with agricultural, household, and industrial waste. These chemicals are referred to collectively as chemicals of emerging concern (CECs) and include, for example, prescription drugs and antibiotics, over-the-counter medications, reproductive hormones, personal-care products, detergent metabolites, and flame retardants.

The U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) cooperated with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service on a study to identify the occurrence of CECs in water and bottom-sediment samples collected during 2010–11 at sites in seven areas of concern (AOCs) throughout the Great Lakes. This report documents the collection methods, analyses methods, quality-assurance data and analyses, and provides the data for this study.

Field measurements and sample collections were completed from September 19, 2010, to September 6, 2011, by a combination of U.S. Geological Survey, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency personnel. Study sites include tributaries to the Great Lakes in AOCs located near Duluth, Minn.; Green Bay, Wis.; Rochester, N.Y.; Detroit, Mich.; Toledo, Ohio; Milwaukee, Wis.; and Ashtabula, Ohio. Water and bottom-sediment samples were analyzed at the USGS National Water Quality laboratory in Denver, Colo., for a broad suite of chemicals that are indicators of industrial, domestic, and agricultural wastewaters.

During this study, 135 environmental and 23 field duplicate samples of surface water and wastewater effluent, 10 field blank water samples, and 11 field spike water samples were collected or prepared during 2010–11 and analyzed at the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory for a wide variety of CECs. Sixty-one of the 69 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.002 to 11.2 micrograms per liter using laboratory method 4433 for wastewater indicators in water. Twenty-eight of the 48 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.0029 to 22.0 micrograms per liter using research method 8244 for pharmaceuticals in water. Ten of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.16 to 10,000 nanograms per liter using research method 4434 for steroid hormones.

During this study, 75 environmental, 13 field duplicate samples, and 9 field spike samples of bottom sediment were collected and analyzed for a wide variety of CECs at the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory using laboratory method 5433 for wastewater indicators, research method 6434 for steroid hormones, and research method 9008 for humanuse pharmaceuticals and antidepressants. Forty-seven of the 57 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.921 to 25,800 nanograms per gram using laboratory method 5433 for wastewater indicators. Seventeen of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.006 to 8,921 nanograms per gram using research method 6434 for steroid hormones. Twelve of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 2.35 to 453.5 nanograms per gram using research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals. Six of the 11 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 2.79 to 91.6 nanograms per gram using research method 9008 for antidepressants.

During 2010, environmental water samples were analyzed to determine the occurrence of non-target CECs at the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory using custom method 2753. This analysis method was selected to identify non-target chemicals, is not considered quantitative, and is in a preliminary format. The estimated concentrations reported for tentatively identified chemicals analyzed by using custom method 2753 are qualitative and should not be considered quantitative.

Introduction

A large group of organic chemicals associated with agricultural, household, and industrial waste have been detected in synoptic surveys of surface-water quality across the United States. These chemicals are referred to collectively as chemicals of emerging concern (CECs) and include, for example, prescription drugs and antibiotics, over-the-counter medications, reproductive hormones, personal-care products, detergent metabolites, and flame retardants. CECs have been identified in surface waters from many States, including areas surrounding the Great Lakes (Buser and others, 1999; Kolpin and others, 2002; Lee and others, 2004; Sando and others, 2005; Brown and others, 2006; Loper and others, 2007; Lee, Schoenfuss, and others, 2008; Lee, Yaeger, and others, 2008). Streams receiving agricultural, municipal, and industrial wastewaters appear to be the most affected (Kolpin and others, 2002; Lee and others, 2004), but other sources have been identified including on-site septic systems (Conn and others, 2006; Carrara and others, 2008; Godfrey and others, 2008). These CECs include endocrine-active chemicals (EACs) capable of inducing endocrine disruption, as well as pharmaceuticals designed for human or animal consumption.

After these CECs enter streams and lakes, most are detected at low concentrations in water (Kolpin and others, 2002; Lee and others, 2004), and also are detected in bottom sediment (for example, Kim and Carlson, 2007; Mayer and others, 2007; Pojana and others, 2007). Questions remain regarding the health of aquatic organisms under long-term (greater than 1 year) exposure to water or sediment contaminated with these chemicals. Various research studies have indicated that fish and other wildlife can be adversely affected by some EACs at environmentally relevant concentrations, producing developmental and reproductive problems. For example, feminization of male fish has been documented (Iguchi and others, 2001), and intersex fish have been documented in areas (Hinck and others, 2006) with known EACs (Vjada and others, 2008; Lee and others, 2010). Throughout the United States, endocrine disruption has been observed in wild fish (Bjerragaard and others, 2006; Hinck and others, 2009; Brown and others, 2011; Blazer and others, 2012), and within Minnesota, endocrine disruption has been observed in the effluent of large wastewater-treatment plants (WWTPs), including vitellogenin induction in male carp (Cyprinus carpio) and walleye (Sander vitreus) (Folmar and others, 1996, 2001; Lee and others, 2000). Vitellogenin in male carp also was observed at numerous sites downstream from WWTP discharges throughout central Minnesota (Lee and others, 2000; Lee, Schoenfuss, and others, 2008; Lee, Yaeger and others, 2008). When considered together, the results from these studies indicate a substantial potential for the occurrence of endocrine disruption from these contaminants; however, our current understanding of the distribution and concentration of these contaminants is incomplete. Although these studies establish the presence of organic CECs in selected surface waters throughout the United States, including the Great Lakes Basin, and identified the presence of endocrine disruption in wild fishes, only a small percentage of the surface waters in the Great Lakes Basin have been sampled specifically to determine these chemicals. In addition, little is known about the persistence and fate of these chemicals, including the nature and extent of partitioning between water, biota, and sediment in complex hydrological settings, such as the Great Lakes tributaries.

To better define CEC occurrence in Great Lakes areas of concern (AOCs), defined by the International Joint Commission (2012), the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) initiated a study through the Great Lakes Restoration Initiative as "an early warning program to detect and identify emerging contaminants and to evaluate the effects of these contaminants on fish and wildlife" (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 2012).

The U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) cooperated with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) and the USFWS on a study to identify the occurrence of CECs, including EACs, pharmaceuticals, synthetic and biogenic hormones, and other chemicals in water and bottom-sediment samples collected during 2010–11 at sites selected by the USFWS throughout the Great Lakes AOCs.

The purposes of this report are to document the collection and analytical methods, provide the quality-assurance data and analyses, and provide the water and bottom-sediment data for this study of CECs in the Great Lakes AOCs. A concurrent biological effects study with wild fishes was undertaken at the study sites by USGS and USFWS, and a concurrent biological effects study using caged fish was undertaken by the USEPA. Results from the biological effects studies are not included in this report.

Study Locations

The USFWS selected seven AOCs throughout the Great Lakes for study during 2010–11. The specific sampling locations within each AOC were selected in the field by USFWS, USEPA, and USGS personnel during 2010 and 2011. Study sites include tributaries to the Great Lakes in AOCs located near Duluth, Minn.; Green Bay and Milwaukee, Wis.; Detroit, Mich.; Toledo and Ashtabula, Ohio; and Rochester, N.Y. (table 1, fig. 1).

Sample Collection

During this study, measurements or sample collections were completed from September 19, 2010, to September 6, 2011. The types of samples collected and collection procedures are described in this section. Water and bottom-sediment samples were collected by a combination of USGS, USFWS, and USEPA personnel during 2010 and 2011. The water samples included collection of surface-water samples from lakes and rivers, and wastewater-effluent samples. The first sampling period occurred from September to November 2010. The second sampling period occurred from April to



4 Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011

Table 1. List of sampling sites, station identifiers, field identifiers, latitude, longitude, and sampling year for water and bottom-sediment samples.

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; Areas of concern are defined at *http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/aoc/*; GLRI, Great Lakes Restoration Initiative; SW, surface water; WWTP, wastewater-treatment plant; WLSSD, Western Lake Sanitary Sewer District]

USGS station identifier	Station name	Field identifier	Latitude	Longitude	Year sampled	
	Area of concern, Ashtabula River					
415352080473601	Ashtabula River (GLRI site1) at Ashtabula, Ohio	ASH-1	415352	804736	2011	
415345080474601	Ashtabula River (GLRI site2) at Ashtabula, Ohio	ASH-2	415345	804746	2011	
415328080475301	Ashtabula River (GLRI site3) at Ashtabula, Ohio	ASH-3	415328	804753	2011	
	Area of concern, Detroit Riv	ver				
421738083055601	Detroit River (site 1) at Detroit, Mich.	DTR-1	421737.6	830555.6	2010-11	
421625083063601	Detroit River (site 2) near River Rouge, Mich.	DTR-2	421624.6	830636.2	2010	
421219083084601	Detroit River (site 3) near Wyandotte, Mich.	DTR-3	421218.7	830845.6	2010	
420650083110001	Detroit River (site 4) near Trenton, Mich.	DTR-4	420649.8	831059.7	2010-11	
420509083103901	Detroit River (site 5) near Gibraltar, Mich.	DTR-5	420509	831038.8	2010	
420424083110401	Detroit River (site 6) near Gibraltar, Mich.	DTR-6	420423.9	831104	2010	
421209083083201	Detroit River (site 7) above Point Hennipin near Wyandotte, Mich.	PTHENN-1	421209	830832	2011	
421100083080801	Detroit River (site 8) below Mamajuda Island near Wyan- dotte, Mich.	WYAND-2	421100	830808	2011	
420738083102301	Detroit River (site 9) at Grosse Ile Parkway in Grosse Ile, Mich.	GROSIL-3	420738	831023	2011	
420714083104801	Detroit River (site 10) above Trenton WWTP, Trenton, Mich.	TRENTN-4	420714	831048	2011	
421104083090201	Detroit River (site 11) by Downriver WWTP at Wyandotte, Mich.	DTR-11	421104	830902	2011	
	Area of concern, Rochester Emb	ayment				
431400077370601	Genesee River above Rattlesnake Point in Rochester, New York, N.Y. site 1	GNR-1	431400.1	773705.9	2010-11	
431205077372601	Genesee River below Veterans Bridge at Rochester, New York, N.Y. site 2	GNR-2	431204.8	773725.8	2010-11	
431226077373501	Genesee River at Seneca Park in Rochester, New York, N.Y. site 3	GNR-3	431226.2	773735.4	2010	
431340077365901	Genesee River at Genesee Dock in Rochester, New York, N.Y. site 4	GNR-4	431339.9	773659.1	2010	
431403077370501	Genesee River at Rattlesnake Point in Rochester, New York, N.Y. site 5	GNR-5	431402.5	773704.5	2010	
431524077362201	Genesee River above mouth at Rochester, New York, N.Y. site 6	GNR-6	431523.6	773621.5	2010-11	
	Area of concern, Maumee R	iver				
413813083341401	Swan Creek (QW site 1) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-1	413812.7	833414.4	2010	
413813083341001	Swan Creek (QW site 2) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-2	413812.7	833410.2	2010	
413813083340601	Swan Creek (QW site 3) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-3	413813	833405.5	2010	
413812083340101	Swan Creek (QW site 4) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-4	413811.7	833400.5	2010	
413814083334701	Swan Creek (QW site 5) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-5	413814.4	833347.3	2010	
413829083334601	Swan Creek (QW site 6) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-6	413828.5	833345.9	2010	
413835083334401	Swan Creek (QW site 7) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-7	413834.9	833344.1	2010-11	
413829083332601	Swan Creek (QW site 8) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-8	413829.4	833326.3	2010-11	
413833083330701	Swan Creek (QW site 9) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-9	413833.4	833307.4	2010	

Table 1. List of sampling sites, station identifiers, field identifiers, latitude, longitude, and sampling year for water and bottom-sediment samples.—Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; Areas of concern are defined at *http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/aoc/*; GLRI, Great Lakes Restoration Initiative; SW, surface water; WWTP, wastewater-treatment plant; WLSSD, Western Lake Sanitary Sewer District]

USGS station identifier	Station name	Field identifier	Latitude	Longitude	Year sampled
Area of concern, Maumee River—Continued					
413835083325901	Swan Creek (QW site 10) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-10	413834.5	833258.7	2010
413831083324401	Swan Creek (QW site 11) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-11	413830.7	833244.2	2010-11
413840083323501	Swan Creek (QW site 12) near Toledo, Ohio	SWC-12	413840.2	833235.1	2010
413852083320301	Swan Creek (site 5) near mouth at Toledo, Ohio	SWANC-5	413852	833203	2011
414059083290500	Maumee River (site 6) above Toledo WWTP at Toldeo, Ohio	CLARKO-6	414059	832905	2011
414119083283001	Maumee River (site 7) below Toledo WWTP at Toledo, Ohio	TOLEDO-7	414119	832830	2011
	Area of concern, St. Louis River a	and Bay			
463934092170101	St. Louis River (site 1) near Fond Du Lac, Minn.	STR-FDL-1	463933.5	921701.2	2010-11
463937092170001	St. Louis River (site 2) near Fond Du Lac, Minn.	STR-FDL-2	463936.7	921659.7	2010
463939092170701	St. Louis River (site 3) near Fond Du Lac, Minn.	STR-FDL-3	463938.8	921706.9	2010-11
463932092170101	St. Louis River (site 4) near Fond Du Lac, Minn.	STR-FDL-4	463931.5	921701	2010
463935092170901	St. Louis River (site 5) near Fond Du Lac, Minn.	STR-FDL-5	463934.7	921709.2	2010-11
463937092171201	St. Louis River (site 6) near Fond Du Lac, Minn.	STR-FDL-6	463937.1	921712.3	2010
463931092165701	St. Louis River, north channel, at Highway 23 near Fond Du Lac, Minn.	FDL	463931	921657	2010
464404092090901	St. Louis Bay (site 1) near Minnesota Power, Duluth, Minn.	STB-MP-1	464404.2	920908.5	2010-11
464359092091901	St. Louis Bay (site 2) near Minnesota Power, Duluth, Minn.	STB-MP-2	464359	920919	2010
464352092091801	St. Louis Bay (site 3) near Minnesota Power, Duluth, Minn.	STB-MP-3	464351.5	920918	2010-11
464349092091001	St. Louis Bay (site 4) near Minnesota Power, Duluth, Minn.	STB-MP-4	464349.3	920909.9	2010-11
464352092090401	St. Louis Bay (site 5) near Minnesota Power, Duluth, Minn.	STB-MP-5	464351.6	920903.5	2010
464357092090601	St. Louis Bay (site 6) near Minnesota Power, Duluth, Minn.	STB-MP-6	464356.6	920905.7	2010-11
464517092071401	St. Louis Bay (site 1) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.	STB-WLSSD-1	464517.3	920713.9	2010-11
464521092071001	St. Louis Bay (site 2) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.	STB-WLSSD-2	464520.8	920710.9	2010
464522092071601	St. Louis Bay (site 3) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.	STB-WLSSD-3	464522.8	920716.9	2010
464524092070901	St. Louis Bay (site 4) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.	STB-WLSSD-4/ WLSSD- distal	464519	920716	2010-11
464527092071601	St. Louis Bay (site 5) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.	STB-WLSSD-5	464527.3	920716.6	2010
464527092071301	St. Louis Bay (site 6) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.	STB-WLSSD-6/ WLSSD- proximal	464528	920712	2010-11
464343092040601	Duluth Harbor Basin near WWTP at Superior, Wis.	SMTP	464343	920406	2010
464538092072601	WLSSD - WWTP effluent at Duluth, Minn.	WLSSD-EFF	464538	920726	2010
	Area of concern, Lower Fox River/(Green Bay			
443219088001401	Fox River at mouth (site 1), in Green Bay, Wis.	FXR-1	443218.9	880014.2	2010
443228087593001	Fox River at mouth (site 2), in Green Bay, Wis.	FXR-2	443228.1	875930.5	2010
443248087573401	Fox River at mouth (site 3), in Green Bay, Wis.	FXR-3	443248.2	875733.8	2010-11
443424087584401	Fox River at mouth (site 4), in Green Bay, Wis.	FXR-4	443423.7	875844.3	2010
443527087595701	Fox River at mouth (site 5), in Green Bay, Wis.	FXR-5	443526.9	875957	2010-11
443202088002401	Fox River at mouth (site 6), in Green Bay, Wis.	FXR-6	443201.9	880024	2010-11

6 Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011

 Table 1.
 List of sampling sites, station identifiers, field identifiers, latitude, longitude, and sampling year for water and bottom-sediment samples.—Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; Areas of concern are defined at *http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/aoc/*; GLRI, Great Lakes Restoration Initiative; SW, surface water; WWTP, wastewater-treatment plant; WLSSD, Western Lake Sanitary Sewer District]

USGS station identifier	Station name	Field identifier	Latitude	Longitude	Year sampled
	Area of concern, Lower Fox River/Green I	Bay—Continued			
04085060	Fox River at Fox River Sewage Treatment Plant at De Pere, Wis.	DPERE-9	442743	880334	2011
040851378	Fox River at Monroe Street at Green Bay, Wis.	EASTR-10	443102	880024	2011
040851385	Fox River at Oil Tank Depot at Green Bay, Wis.	PRGAM-11	443143	880036	2011
04085139	Fox River at mouth at Green Bay, Wis.	GRBAY-12	443222	880016	2011
	Area of concern, Milwaukee Es	stuary			
04087143	Menomonee River at North Emmber Lane at Milwaukee, Wis.	MENMR-13	430157	875545	2011
04087013	Milwaukee River at St. Paul Avenue at Milwaukee, Wis.	MILWR-14	430204	875437	2011
430123087533801	Milwaukee Harbor (site 15) at Jones Island WWTP, Mil- waukee, Wis.	JONESI-15	430123	875338	2011
04087162	Kinnickinnic River above South Kinnickinnic Avenue at Milwaukee, Wis.	KINNI-17	430029	875433	2011
040870122	Milwaukee River at Wisconsin Avenue Bridge, Milwaukee, Wis.	MILWR-WABR	430217	875435	2011
430143087551501	Burnham Canal at South 7th Street, Milwaukee, Wis.	MIL-2	430143	875515	2011
040870104	Milwaukee River below North Avenue Dam, Milwaukee, Wis.	MIL-NAVDAM	430326	875350	2011

September 2011. The 2010 sampling included collection of at least six water and six bottom-sediment samples at each AOC; water was sampled at additional caged fish deployment locations by USEPA. During 2010 and 2011, 179 water samples (135 environmental and 23 field duplicate samples of surface water and wastewater effluent, 10 field blank water samples, and 11 field spike water samples) and 97 bottom-sediment samples (75 environmental, 13 field duplicate, and 9 field spike samples) were collected.

Water-Sample Collection

Water-quality properties (dissolved oxygen, pH, specific conductance, and temperature) were measured at most sites using a submersible Yellow Springs Instrument (YSI) data sonde (Yellow Springs, Ohio). The data sonde was calibrated according to U.S. Geological Survey (variously dated) and manufacturer's specifications before sampling.

A modified depth-integrated sampling technique was used to collect water from streams and lakes (U.S. Geological Survey, variously dated). A weighted bottle sampler was lowered into the water column at one location at each site to collect the depth-integrated sample. Wastewater effluent samples were collected directly from a WWTP by USEPA personnel. USGS clean-sampling techniques (U.S. Geological Survey, variously dated) were used to collect samples. To avoid contamination of samples, personnel avoided use of personal-care items, such as insect repellent, cologne, aftershave, and perfume; did not consume caffeinated or tobacco products during (or immediately before) collection or processing of samples; and wore powderless, disposable, nitrile gloves during sample collection. All samples were collected with inert materials such as glass, or stainless steel. All collection and processing equipment was cleaned between sampling sites with a succession of soapy (liquinox) tap water, tap water, deionized water, methanol, reagent water, and native water rinses. Chilled water samples were processed within 1 to 2 hours of collection before shipping to the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory (NWQL).

Bottom-Sediment Sample Collection

Bottom-sediment samples were collected from each location according to established protocols (U.S. Geological Survey, variously dated). Bottom sediment was collected using techniques that included the most recent bottom-sediment deposition [top 10 centimeters (cm)]. Samples were collected with a stainless steel Eckman grab sampler or other stainless steel coring equipment. The bottom-sediment sample was discarded and resampled if it contained a large amount of vegetation or if the sediment layers appeared to be disturbed. Bottom-sediment samples were transferred to a stainless steel bowl and homogenized with a stainless steel spoon. Approximately 100–200 grams (g) of unsieved wet material were placed in wide-mouth, glass containers, and frozen. Collection containers were washed with soap and water, rinsed with water, baked at 450 degrees Celsius (°C) for 4 hours, and sealed with a Teflon[®]-lined lid before use. All collection and processing equipment was cleaned between sampling sites with a succession of soapy (liquinox) tap water, tap water, deionized water, methanol, and organic-free water rinses. Frozen bottom-sediment samples were shipped to the USGS NWQL.

Sample Analyses

Water and bottom-sediment samples were analyzed at the NWQL for a broad suite of chemicals (*table 2*, link to Excel spreadsheet) that are indicators of industrial, domestic, and agricultural sources. The specific chemicals analyzed were selected on the basis of usage, toxicity, potential estrogenic activity, persistence in the environment (Barnes and others, 2002; Kolpin and others, 2002), and method availability. A combination of laboratory production methods and research methods were used to analyze study samples. Laboratory research method 8244), tentatively identified chemicals in water (method 2753, not listed in *table 2*), steroid hormones in unfiltered water (method 6434), and human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants in bottom sediment (method 9008).

Water Chemical Analyses

The surface-water and wastewater-effluent samples (water samples) were split into numerous parts for analyses. Unfiltered samples were analyzed for boron, total nitrogen, and total phosphorus (NWQL methods 2354, 2333, and 2756, respectively) using standard analytical techniques described in Patton and Truitt (1992), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (1993), and Fishman and others (1994).

Unfiltered samples were analyzed for organic chemicals typically present in domestic and industrial wastewater and nonpoint sources using NWQL method 4433 (Zaugg and others, 2006) (*table 2*). The method targets chemicals that are indicators of wastewater or have endocrine-disrupting potential in unfiltered samples. Chemical types or uses include alkylphenol ethoxylate nonionic surfactants, food additives, fragrances, antioxidants, flame retardants, plasticizers, industrial solvents, disinfectants, animal and plant sterols, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and selected pesticides. A suite of 48 pharmaceuticals also was added to method 4433 (research method 8244). Chemicals analyzed using laboratory method 4433/8244 were extracted using methylene chloride

in continuous liquid–liquid extractors, and then determined by capillary-column gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. Samples were preserved before extraction by adding 60 g of sodium chloride and storing at 4°C. The holding-time limit before sample extraction was 14 days from the date of collection.

Unfiltered samples were analyzed for steroid hormones, two sterols (cholesterol and 3-*beta*-coprostanol), and bisphenol *A* using NWQL research method 4434 (Foreman and others, 2012) (*table 2*). Isotope dilution standards (IDSs), which are isotopically labeled analogs of the method analytes, were added to the sample just before solid-phase extraction (SPE). Derivatized method chemicals were analyzed by gas chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry (GC/MS/MS). Analyte concentrations were calculated using isotope-dilution quantification, which automatically corrects for any laboratory procedural losses in the reported chemical concentration. Absolute (non-corrected) recoveries were reported for the IDS compounds that are comparable to surrogate compound recoveries in other NWQL methods.

Unfiltered samples collected during 2010 were analyzed at the NWQL for tentatively identified chemicals (TICs) using research method 2753. Chemicals were tentatively identified by matching their mass spectrum to a reference mass spectrum in the National Institute of Standards and Technology's NIST05a mass spectral reference library; however, the mass spectrometer was not calibrated to determine the concentration for any of the reported TICs. Thus, although TIC concentrations are provided in this report, these results are most suitable as indicators of likely compound presence/absence and not as being a quantitatively reliable concentration.

Bottom-Sediment Chemical Analyses

Bottom-sediment samples were split into portions and analyzed for three carbon types (total, inorganic, and organic) using laboratory method 2503 described in Wershaw and others (1987), organic wastewater indicators (method 5433), steroid hormones (research method 6434), and human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants (research method 9008) at the NWQL (*table 2*). A subset of each sample also was analyzed for particle size using the dry-sieve method of analysis at the USGS Iowa Water Science Center Sediment Laboratory, which closely follows the recommendations of Guy (1969) and Tyler Industrial Products (1976).

Bottom-sediment samples were analyzed for wastewater indicators (method 5433) according to Burkhardt and others (2006). The method used pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) using an accelerated solvent extraction instrument (ASE[®]; Dionex Corp., Sunnyvale, Calif.), subsequent chemical isolation and extract cleanup by SPE and analysis by GC/MS/MS operated in electron-impact mode with full-scan ion monitoring. Chemicals analyzed (*table 2*) include alkylphenol ethoxylate nonionic surfactants and several degradates, food additives, fragrances, antioxidants, flame retardants, plasticizers, industrial solvents, disinfectants, animal and plant sterols, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and selected pesticides.

Bottom-sediment samples were analyzed for steroid hormones, two sterols, and bisphenol A using NWQL research method 6434. Similar to water method 4434, research method 6434 uses an IDS quantification procedure, with IDSs added to the sediment sample before extraction, that automatically corrects any procedural losses in the reported analyte concentration. Following receipt at the NWQL, samples for steroid hormone analyses were stored in a freezer at -5°C or less until the day preceding extraction, when allowed to thaw at room temperature. Each sample was homogenized before sub-sampling for extraction or for separate dry-weight determination. Dry weight was obtained by weighing a sample aliquot, contained in a tarred aluminum pan, before and after heating at 130°C for at least 16 hours. Amounts used for extraction of samples in this study ranged from 1.04 to 13.2 g of sediment (dry weight), with lesser amounts used for matrices anticipated to have high organic matter or method chemical concentrations. A subsample was placed in a tarred ASE cell and reweighed to determine the aliquot's wet weight before extraction. Reagent sand (cleaned by heating at 450°C for a minimum of 4 hours) was added to the cell, as needed, based on cell and sample size. The aliquot was fortified with 10-10,000 nanograms (ng; compound dependent) of the IDS compounds. The sample aliquot was extracted by PLE using the ASE instrument with a mixture of water: isopropanol (50:50 volume per volume [v/v]) at 120°C and water: isopropanol (20:80 v/v) at 200°C using three static cycles (40 minutes total) at each temperature at a pressure of 10.3 megaPascals (1,500 pounds per square inch). The resultant PLE extract portions were diluted using 100 milliliters (mL) of a pH 7 potassium phosphate buffer solution and sequentially passed through an OASIS® hydrophiliclipophilic-balanced reversed-phase sorbent (Waters Corp., Milford, Mass.) SPE column to isolate the method chemicals on the column using the procedure given in Burkhardt and others (2006). The SPE column was dried with nitrogen gas at a flow of 2 liters per minute for 15 minutes. Method chemicals were eluted from the hydrophilic-lipophilic-balanced column and passed through a cleanup column containing 2 g of Florisil overlain with 2.5 g of sodium sulfate by using 25 mL of a dichloromethane-methanol (95:5 v/v) mixture. The resultant extract was concentrated to 1-2 mL by using nitrogen gas evaporation, and transferred to a silanized 5-mL reaction vial by using a 1.5-mL rinse with the dichloromethane-methanol (95:5 v/v) mixture. The extract was evaporated to dryness using nitrogen gas. The method chemicals were derivatized to trimethylsilyl or trimethylsilyl-enol ether analogs and analyzed by GC/MS/MS using procedures similar to water method 4434 (Foreman and others, 2012).

Bottom-sediment samples were analyzed for two suites of pharmaceuticals using NWQL research method 9008. One suite encompasses a range of prescription and non-prescription pharmaceuticals and is referred to as human-use pharmaceuticals. The second suite measures antidepressants and is referred to as such. For the analysis of both suites of pharmaceuticals in bottom sediment, a method described by Kinney and others (2006) was used for extraction and extract concentration. For all extractions, a solvent consisting of 70-percent acetonitrile and 30-percent water was used to extract the samples using PLE. For human-use pharmaceuticals, the identification and quantification portion of the instrument analysis method of Kinney and others (2006) was modified to take advantage of the superior sensitivity and specificity of high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC/ MS/MS). Antidepressants (buproprion, carbamazepine, citalopram, duloxetine, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, norfluoxetine, norsertraline, paroxetine, sertraline, and venlafaxine) in sediment extracts were identified and quantified by HPLC/MS/MS (Schultz and Furlong, 2008; Schultz and others, 2010). The laboratory reporting levels (table 2) for human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants are considered provisional limits of quantitation.

Quality Assurance

This section of the report presents the quality-assurance data collected for the study. Data are presented for water samples (surface water and wastewater effluent) and bottomsediment samples. The USGS Minnesota District Quality Assurance Plan and the USGS National Field Manual (U.S. Geological Survey, 2010) were used to guide data-collection activities for the study. USGS guidelines and standard procedures for water and bottom-sediment collections were used for this study to assure quality data collection. All field personnel were familiarized with study design and sampling protocols before field sampling or data processing to assure sample integrity.

Database Integrity

The first tier of quality assurance was dataset confirmation, which included a comparison of field sheets to the data stored in the USGS National Water Information System (NWIS) database to assure that sample coding was correct. This step was particularly important given the complexity of site selection and that multiple agencies collected the data. The USGS station identifiers, station names, and other parameters (sample time, sample type, sample medium) were confirmed. These variables are essential to catalog the data in the NWIS database and to transfer the samples to the NWQL.

Laboratory Reporting Levels

Labroratory reporting levels (LRLs) used by the NWQL are designed to minimize the reporting of false positive results and, under specific data reporting conventions, false negative results (see additional information in appendix C in U.S. Geological Survey, 2010). A false positive occurs when a chemical is reported present when, in fact, none is present in a sample, whereas a false negative occurs when a chemical is reported as not detected or, more appropriately, as being less than a concentration threshold (the LRL), when it actually is present in a sample above that threshold.

The NWQL methods used for determining organic chemicals for this study are defined as "information-rich" (Childress and others, 1999) because chemical identifications are determined by mass spectrometry. The first step for these methods is qualitative identification of the chemical using chromatographic retention time and the presence of characteristic mass spectral ions with correct ion ratios. Because qualitative identification is completed before a concentration is reported, data from these "information rich" methods are not censored at the LRL for most analytes. The intention is to provide as much information as possible for complex samples, but for which qualitative identification can be made. Data from the mass spectrometric-based organic methods applied in this study are reported using a convention that attempts to minimize LRL false negative error at the LRL. A "less than" LRL value is provided when the instrumental signal of the presumed analyte is not detected above noise levels, or, for those methods using mass spectrometry, when mass spectral qualifying criteria are not met and the response is less than the LRL concentration. The LRL values are re-evaluated annually based on the most current quality-control data and, therefore, might change (Childress and others, 1999).

The NWQL uses remark codes to provide information about the analyses. Because concentration data less than the LRL have a greater risk of false positives, the reported concentrations should be carefully compared to laboratory and field blank data for evaluation. The "E" (estimated remark) code is applied to analyte data by the NWQL for a variety of reasons (Childress and others, 1999), including, for example, (1) when there are suspected matrix interferences, (2) if the chemical has a recognized performance limitation, or (3) if only technical mixture and not individual analyte standards are available for use as calibrant materials.

The bottom-sediment data have multiple LRLs for a given chemical. Methods 5433 and 6434 use LRL scaling based on the amount of sediment that is extracted. The LRL values for sample results in the NWIS database are scaled on the basis of the extracted dry weight of the sample. This leads to lower LRLs if more sample weight is extracted relative to the default weight, or higher LRLs if less sample weight is used relative to the default weight (a more common scenario, especially for "dirtier" samples because a lower sample mass is extracted to minimize matrix interference issues or because high analyte concentrations are anticipated). In addition, chemical-specific cases of raised reporting levels can occur because of matrix interference with the instrument's ability to identify or quantify target chemicals accurately.

Laboratory and Field Quality-Control Data

Laboratory and field quality-assurance samples were collected as part of the study to assess potential sources of contamination and variability. Laboratory quality-assurance samples included reagent-water blanks and spikes that are collected for all USGS methods as part of ongoing performance assessment and evaluation of potential interferences and contamination sources, and are used to set or adjust LRLs. Surrogate compounds were added before extraction to all samples for organic methods to monitor sample-specific procedural performance.

Laboratory Blank Samples

For the analyses in this report, data for laboratory reagent blank samples of water and bottom sediment analyzed with environmental samples at the NWQL during the 2 years of this study were considered. Concentrations in environmental samples were compared to concentrations in the companion laboratory blank sample that was analyzed with the environmental sample. If an environmental sample concentration, the concentration was flagged in the dataset with a "C₁" qualifier to indicate potential sample contamination in laboratory blank samples.

For method 4433 for analyses of wastewater indicators in unfiltered water, 13 laboratory blank samples in 2010 and 13 in 2011 were analyzed along with environmental samples. During 2010 and 2011, all reported concentrations in environmental samples were greater than three times the concentration in the companion laboratory blank samples.

For research method 8244 for analyses of pharmaceuticals in unfiltered water, 13 laboratory blank samples in 2010 and 12 in 2011 were analyzed along with environmental samples. Methocarbamol was detected in one environmental sample in 2010 at a concentration less than three times laboratory blank concentrations, and this concentration was flagged with a "C₁" qualifier code in *appendix 1* (link to Excel spreadsheet) to indicate potential contamination in laboratory blank samples. During 2011, all reported concentrations in environmental concentrations were greater than three times the concentration in the companion laboratory blank samples.

For research method 4434 for analyses of steroid hormones in unfiltered water, 14 laboratory blank samples in 2010 and 13 in 2011 were analyzed along with environmental samples. During 2010 and 2011, all reported concentrations in environmental samples were greater than three times the concentration in the companion laboratory blank samples.

The NWQL analyzed laboratory bottom-sediment sample blanks consisting of a baked reagent-sand matrix. Environmental bottom-sediment sample sizes varied, and thus the LRLs are scaled on the basis of sample-weight extracted relative to reporting levels that assume a default 10-g sample size. The laboratory blank samples are composed of a 10-g sample. Because blank-sample and environmental-sample sizes typically differ from each other, a comparison of these samples was made on total mass of the chemical rather than on dry mass-normalized concentrations, which can be misleading. For example, the total mass (0.14 nanograms) of an analyte that results in a 0.14 nanograms per gram (ng/g) or a 1-g environmental sample is the same total mass that results in an order of magnitude lower concentration of 0.014 ng/g for a 10-g laboratory blank sample. The total mass of the chemical in laboratory blank samples and environmental samples was calculated by multiplying the analyte's concentration in the given sample by the weight of the sample.

All bottom-sediment samples were analyzed in 2011, and 14 laboratory blank samples were analyzed with companion environmental samples. The total mass of all reported chemicals in bottom-sediment environmental samples analyzed using method 5433, method 6434, and research method 9008 were greater than three times the total mass of that chemical detected in laboratory reagent blank samples. Chemicals frequently detected in laboratory blanks generally have raised LRLs to ensure that false positives are not reported.

Laboratory Reagent Spike Samples

Laboratory reagent spike recovery data provide information about method performance with time. Laboratory reagent spike samples are samples spiked (fortified) in the laboratory with a known concentration of selected chemicals. The theoretical concentration is a calculated concentration based on the known mass of chemical constituents that are added to a known volume of water. The percent recovery (PR) of a chemical is the result of a measured concentration in a spiked sample that, when compared to the theoretical concentration, is expressed as a percentage of its theoretical concentration. Acceptable chemical performance is described as having mean laboratory reagent spike recoveries between 60 and 120 percent (Foreman and Green, 2008). The number of laboratory reagent spike samples analyzed with environmental water samples (table 3, link to Excel spreadsheet) and bottom-sediment samples (*table 4*, link to Excel spreadsheet) varied by the chemical analyzed and laboratory method.

There were 25 laboratory reagent-water spikes (13 in 2010 and 12 in 2011) for all chemicals analyzed using method 4433 (*table 3*). The mean percent recovery (mPR) of laboratory reagent-water spikes for chemicals analyzed using method 4433 ranged from 2 to 105 (*table 3*). The mPRs were greater during 2011 than 2010 for 84 percent of the chemicals analyzed using method 4433 (*table 3*); however, in most cases, the mPRs for both years fell within the acceptable limits range of 60 to 120 percent.

The mPRs for 1,4-dichlorobenzene; 3-*beta*-coprostanol; 3,4-dichlorophenyl isocyanate; 3-*tert*-butyl-4-hydroxy anisole (BHA); 5-methyl-1H-benzotriazole; *beta*-sitosterol; *beta*-sitogranol; cholesterol; cotinine; *d*-limonene; isopropylbenzene; pentachlorophenol; and tetrachloroethene were relatively lower than mPRs for other chemicals in method 4433 (mPRs less than 60 percent for one or both years). Chemicals with

PRs less than 60 percent might have environmental sample concentrations that are biased low, and there is a higher risk for false negatives (not reporting a chemical present when it is in a sample at a concentration near the LRL).

As many as 5 to 24 laboratory reagent-water spike samples (mean of 23) were analyzed for chemicals using research method 8244 during both years. No clear pattern in the mPRs was evident by year for method 8244 (*table 3*). The pharmaceuticals 2-ethyl-2-phenylmalonamide, acetaminophen, amitriptyline, chirald, codeine, dihydrocodeine, fluoxetine, hydrocodone, methocarbamol, norpropoxyphene, oxcarbazepine, oxycodone, and primidone had relatively lower recoveries than other chemicals analyzed by method 8244 (mPRs less than 60 percent) during one or both years. Meperidine, methylphenidate, temazepam, and venlafaxine had the highest mPRs (greater than 120 percent) during one or both years.

For research method 4434, 27 laboratory reagent-water spike samples were analyzed for each chemical—11 in 2010 and 16 in 2011. The mPRs for all chemicals on method 4434 were between 65 and 100 percent, and a pattern of mPRs by year was not apparent.

The NWQL analyzed laboratory reagent spike samples consisting of an ashed sand matrix fortified with low concentrations of selected chemicals. All laboratory reagent sediment spike samples were analyzed in 2011. Thirteen laboratory reagent spike samples were analyzed using laboratory method 5433 along with companion environmental samples (*table 4*). The mPRs for all chemicals analyzed in laboratory reagent spike samples for method 5433 ranged from 18 to 116 percent. The chemicals 3-*tert*-butyl-4-hydroxy anisole (BHA), atrazine, bisphenol *A*, chlorpyrifos, *d*-limonene, indole, isopropylbenzene, triphenyl phosphate, and tris(dichlorisopropyl)phosphate had relatively lower mPRs in laboratory reagent spike samples (less than 60 percent) than other method 5433 chemicals.

The number of laboratory reagent-sand spike samples ranged from 18 to 21 among chemicals analyzed using research method 6434 for bottom sediment (*table 4*). The mPRs for chemicals analyzed in laboratory spike samples using method 6434 ranged from 71 to 116 percent. All of the chemicals on method 6434 had mPRs greater than 80 percent with the exception of equilin, which had an mPR of 71 percent.

The NWQL analyzed 15 laboratory reagent-sand spikes for chemicals on research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants in bottom sediment. The mPRs ranged from 4 to 81 percent among all chemicals analyzed in method 9008 (*table 4*). Most of the chemicals had mPRs less than 60 percent except for carbamazepine, warafin, citalopram, norsertaline, sertraline, and venlafaxine, which had mPRs ranging from 63 to 81 percent.

Field Quality-Assurance Data

Field quality-assurance samples were used to assess the effect of sample collection and processing on sample results. Field quality-assurance samples included field blanks, field duplicates, and field matrix spikes. Field blanks were used to assess potential contamination sources introduced during sample collection. Duplicate samples were used to determine variability in determined concentrations resulting from sample processing techniques. Field matrix spike samples were used to assess the effects of sample composition on recovery performance of the chemicals by the method. In addition, all samples were fortified with surrogate compounds that are similar to the chemicals of interest but do not interfere with the analyses of the chemicals, and were used to comparatively assess method performance in the presence of the sample matrix.

Field Blank Water Samples

Field blank water samples were prepared at selected sampling sites where corresponding environmental samples were collected. The field blank sample was processed by passing high-performance liquid-chromatography-grade reagent water (J.T. Baker[®] Analyzed brand, Avantor Performance Materials, Center Valley, Penn.) through the same sampling equipment, using the same procedure as used for collection of the environmental and duplicate water samples.

None of the analyzed chemicals were detected in five of the seven blank water samples collected during 2010 (*appendix 1*). During 2010, concentrations near or less than the reporting level were reported for naphthalene, 1-methylnaphthalene, and 2-methylnaphthalene in one blank sample, and for tetrachloroethene in the other blank sample. These chemicals were not detected in the companion environmental samples.

During 2011, two chemicals [tetrachloroethene and tris(2butoxyethyl)phosphate] were detected in one blank sample, four chemicals [N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET), phenol, triphenyl phosphate, and tris(2-butoxyethyl) phosphate)] were detected in a second blank sample, and one chemical (isophorone) was detected in a third blank sample. Tetrachlorethene and isophorone concentrations in the companion environmental samples were greater than three times the concentration in the blank sample, indicating that contamination is not an issue. Concentrations of DEET, phenol, triphenyl phosphate, and tris(2-butoxyethyl)phosphate in one of the companion environmental samples were less than three times the concentration in the field blank water sample; therefore, the concentrations in those environmental samples were flagged with a "C" qualifier code to indicate possible contamination from field collection and subsequent sample processing.

Field Duplicate Samples

Duplicate samples are used to evaluate the variability introduced during field processing. Field duplicate samples were field processed splits of the environmental samples, so the concentration of an analyte in an environmental sample should vary little, if any, from its concentration in the corresponding duplicate sample. If the two do not agree, the absolute relative percent difference (RPD) determines to what extent the concentrations vary. The equation for calculating absolute RPD is as follows:

$$RPD = \left| \left(\frac{ENV - FDUP}{2} \right) \right| * 100 \tag{1}$$

where

ENV

is the concentration in an environmental sample, and

FDUP is the concentration in the corresponding field duplicate sample.

RPDs were calculated for chemicals in sample pairs where both samples had detections. The mean RPDs among all chemicals for the 22 duplicate water samples for 2010 and 2011 ranged from 1.5 to 82.7 percent (*table 5*, link to Excel spreadsheet). The mean RPD was greatest (greater than 50 percent) for 3-beta-coprostanol, beta-sitosterol, hydrocodone, p-cresol, pentachlorophenol, piperonyl butoxide, and tetrachloroethene (table 5). A chemical detected in an environmental and duplicate sample pair may have a small absolute difference from an environmental context, but that difference may be magnified by the calculation of the RPD. For example, the environmental and duplicate sample at the Fox River Sewage Treatment Plant at De Pere, Wis., sampled on June 1, 2011 (appendix 1), with p-cresol concentrations of 0.066 and 0.036 micrograms per liter (μ g/L), respectively, would yield a high RPD of 59 percent. The consistency in analyte detection between the environmental and duplicate water samples for individual chemicals ranged from no inconsistency (all chemicals had either detections or non-detections in both samples) to 7 of the 22 pairs having inconsistent detections for some chemicals (*table 5*).

The mean RPDs for all chemicals analyzed in the 13 bottom-sediment samples collected during 2010 and 2011 ranged from 6.2 to 78.6 percent with a mean of 25 percent. Bisphenol A, camphor, and *cis*-androsterone had the greatest RPDs (greater than 50 percent) among all chemicals analyzed (table 5). The consistency in detection between the environmental and duplicate bottom-sediment samples for individual chemicals ranged from no inconsistency (all samples had either detections or non-detections in both samples) to 7 of the 13 pairs having inconsistent detections. The steroid hormones analyzed using research method 6434 had the greatest number of chemicals with inconsistent detections. It was not possible to calculate the RPDs for many chemicals analyzed using research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants in bottom sediments because there were few detections. Cotinine was the only pharmaceutical detected in both pairs with a mean RPD of 42.6 percent.

Field Matrix Spike Samples

The recoveries of chemicals determined from field matrix spike samples are useful for evaluation of method performance

for samples collected at specific study sites, and also to assess whether matrix-induced suppression or enhancement of an analyte's signal might occur during analysis. Matrix spike samples were prepared in the laboratory by adding (fortifying) a known (theoretical) concentration of a chemical to the environmental sample, and the percent recovery (PR) was determined using the following equation:

$$PR = \frac{Spiked \ sample \ chemical \ concentration}{Spiked \ sample \ chemical \ concentration} * 100$$
(2)

The PR was computed by substituting zero for the environmental chemical concentration if that concentration was coded with a less than (<) remark code and the measured spiked sample concentration was coded as estimated or was without a remark code.

Spiked water samples were prepared for laboratory method 4433, research method 8244, and research method 4434 (table 3); spiked bottom-sediment samples were prepared for laboratory method 5433, research method 6434, and research method 9008 (table 4). An important consideration for field matrix spike recoveries is the fortification concentrations; that is, theoretical concentrations relative to the concentrations in the unspiked (environmental) samples. If the unspiked sample concentration is much less than the theoretical concentration, then the unspiked sample concentrations will make a trivial contribution to the total concentration in the spiked sample. In this case, the percent recoveries ideally should be in the 60 to 120 range, assuming no procedural or analysis issues (Foreman and Green, 2008). As the unspiked sample concentrations approach the theoretical concentrations, the amount spiked (theoretical concentration) becomes a smaller portion of the total determined concentration, and the unspiked concentrations have a greater (bias) effect on the calculated chemical recovery. If the unspiked concentrations are much greater than the theoretical concentrations, the spiked amount is too low compared to the unspiked concentration. In this case, the recoveries often are substantially biased (positive or negative), highly variable, and typically not reliable. The spiked samples with unspiked concentrations equal to or greater than the spiked amount were coded "NR" or not reported in *table 3*.

The PRs are useful to identify matrix effects on procedural performance, and are an indication of possible differential biases in reported sample concentrations within and between sites. Relatively high PRs (greater than 120 percent) indicate possible positive bias in the reported sample concentrations, whereas relatively low PRs (less than 60 percent) indicate possible negative bias in reported concentrations relative to the true sample concentrations in a sample due to matrix interference or other analytical issues.

The mPR for field matrix spike water samples among all chemicals analyzed using method 4433 ranged from 20 to 113 percent (*table 3*) with an overall mean of 70 percent for all spiked samples. The mPR among all chemicals analyzed

using research method 8244 ranged from 25 to 382 percent with an overall mean of 86 percent for all spiked samples. The mPR for all chemicals analyzed using research method 4434 ranged from 32 to 118 with an overall mean of 88 percent for all spiked samples.

Percent recoveries for field matrix spike water samples varied among sites (*table 3*). Site SWC-11 [Swan Creek Site (site 11) near Toledo, Ohio] and site STR-FDL-1 [St. Louis River (site 1) near Fond du Lac, Minn.] had the lowest overall mPRs (less than 52 percent) for all samples by method 4433. Sites SWC-11 and STB-WLSSD-6/WLSSD-proximal [St. Louis Bay Site (site 6) near Western Lake Sanitary Sewer District (WLSSD) WWTP, Duluth, Minn.] had the lowest overall mPRs (less than 53 percent) for all samples by research method 8244. The overall mPRs for all samples analyzed using research method 4434 were similar (ranging from 89 to 98 percent) among sampling sites, with the exception of site STB-WLSSD-2 [St. Louis Bay (site 2) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.], which had relatively greater mPRs (mean of 125 percent).

The mPRs for field matrix spike water samples varied among chemicals analyzed (table 3). The mPRs for 1,4-dichlorobenzene, 2,2',4,4'-tetrabromodiphenyl ether (PBDE congener 47); 3-beta-coprostanol; 3,4-dichloro-phenyl isocyanate, 3-tert-butyl-4-hydroxyanisole (BHA); 5-methyl-1H-benzotriazole; benzo[a]pyrene; beta-sitosterol; beta-stigmastanol; chlorpyrifos; cholesterol; cotinine; d-limonene; indole; isopropyl benzene; and tetrachloroethene were relatively lower (less than 60 percent) compared with mPRs for other chemicals on method 4433. The chemicals 2-ethyl-2-phenylmalonamide, celecoxib, dihydrocodeine, metaxalone, methylphenidate, oxcarbazepine, oxycodone, and primidone had relatively lower mPRs (less than 60 percent) than other chemicals on research method 8244. Fluconazole, ibuprofen, and methocarbamol had relatively higher (greater than 120 percent) mPRs compared to other chemicals on research method 8244. All of the mPRs for chemicals on research method 4434 were greater than 60 percent with the exception of progesterone, which had an mPR less than 35 percent.

The mPRs for chemicals analyzed in the field matrix spike bottom-sediment samples using laboratory method 5433 ranged from 7 to 162 percent, with an overall mean for all chemicals of 71 percent (*table 4*). The mPRs for chemicals analyzed using research method 6434 for spiked bottom-sediment samples ranged from 29 to 121 percent, with an overall mean for all chemicals of 84 percent. The mPRs for chemicals analyzed using research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals in the spiked bottom-sediment samples ranged from 0 to 48 percent, with an overall mean for all chemicals of 13 percent. The mPR for all chemicals analyzed using research method 9008 for antidepressants in the spiked bottom-sediment samples ranged from 1 to 43 percent, with an overall mean for all samples of 7 percent.

The mPRs differed among sites for the field matrix spike samples for some chemicals in bottom sediment. The mPRs for the spiked samples prepared for site STB-WLSSD-3 [St. Louis Bay (site 3) near WLSSD WWTP, Duluth, Minn.] were relatively lower than spiked samples for other sites, with an overall mPR less than 31 percent for all chemicals analyzed using method 5433 (*table 4*). The mPRs for all chemicals at each site were greater than 70 percent for chemicals analyzed using research method 6434. The mPRs for all chemicals at each site were less than 20 percent for chemicals analyzed using research method 9008.

The mPRs for individual chemicals analyzed using laboratory method 5433 were less than 40 percent for 1,4-dichlorobenzene; 3-*tert*-butyl-4-hydroxyanisole (BHA), diethyl phthalate; *d*-limonene; isophorone; isopropylbenzene; and prometon, and less than 60 percent for an additional 14 chemicals (*table 4*). The mPRs for all chemicals analyzed using research method 6434 were greater than 60 percent with the exception of equilin and progesterone, which had relatively lower mPRs (less than 40 percent). The mPRs for individual chemicals analyzed using research method 9008 were less than 50 percent for all chemicals.

Surrogate and Isotope Dilution Standard Recoveries

All samples were fortified with surrogate standards or IDSs (used in research methods 4434 and 6434). Surrogates typically are similar in structure to (or are isotopic analogs of) at least several of the method analytes. Surrogate recoveries are used to monitor sample-specific laboratory procedural performance. For example, uniformly low surrogate recoveries typically are an indication of substantial procedural losses and, thus, possible negative bias in reported concentrations of analytes for the sample.

IDS recoveries also are indicators of absolute analyte recovery (total analyte mass recovered through the procedure); however, for research methods 4434 and 6434 that use IDS compounds, analyte concentrations (or analyte method recoveries for spiked samples) are corrected for procedural losses by use of the isotope-dilution quantification procedure. Thus, IDS recoveries typically will be somewhat (or substantially) lower than chemical method recoveries reported for spiked samples. Although low IDS recoveries in a sample are an indication of reduced analyte total mass recovery, reported chemical concentrations will be less biased and closer to the true sample concentration than indicated by the IDS recovery (see Foreman and others, 2012).

The mPRs of the 15 surrogate standards or IDSs were determined for water samples analyzed using method 4433 and research method 4434. The mPRs for the the 15 surrogate standards or IDSs for water ranged from 43 to 88 percent (table 6). The mPRs for decafluorobiphenyl, medroxyprogesterone- d_3 , and *trans*-diethyl-1,1,1',1'- d_4 -stilbesterol-3,3',5,5'- d_4 were relatively lower (less than 60 percent) than other surrogate standards or IDSs in water samples. The recoveries of

surrogate standards or IDSs did not differ appreciably between sites within an AOC or among AOCs.

The mPRs for the 14 surrogate standards or IDSs analyzed using laboratory method 5433 or research method 6434 in bottom-sediment samples ranged from 26 to 94 percent. Bisphenol $A-d_3$; cholesterol-25,26,26,26,27,27,27- d_7 ; decafluorobiphenyl; and *trans*-diethyl-1,1,1',1'- d_4 -stilbesterol-3,3',5,5'- d_4 had relatively lower mPRs (less than 40 percent) than other standards analyzed. The mPRs for the five surrogate standards in bottom-sediment samples analyzed using research method 9008 for pharmaceuticals and antidepressants ranged from 8 to 47 percent.

Study Data

This section of the report presents the environmental and field quality-assurance data collected for the study of CECs in the Great Lakes AOCs. The results from this study are published as a USGS Data Series Report to ensure adequate documentation of the original results and provide a single citable source of original results. This report contains no interpretations of the study data. These data were collected during 2010-11 by USGS, USFWS, and USEPA personnel. Data are presented for water samples (surface water and wastewater effluent) and bottom-sediment samples. The data are as reported by the laboratory and have not been censored or adjusted. Quality-assurance analyses described in the "Laboratory Blank Samples" and "Field Blank Water Samples" sections indicated that laboratory or field contamination was limited during sample collection for this study. The variability determined for chemicals between duplicate and environmental samples (table 5) provides a benchmark for comparison of data among sites. The spike (tables 3 and 4), surrogate standard, and IDS recoveries (table 6) indicate that some methods and some chemicals within a method perform better than others. Equally important, matrix spike recoveries indicate differences in the data that are in some cases likely due to matrix complexities that interfere with analytical determinations that complicate comparisons of data from different sites.

Water-Quality Properties

Field water-quality properties, including dissolved oxygen, pH, specific conductance, and water temperature, were measured at the study sites during 2010–11. Field waterquality properties are presented in *appendix 1*. Water-quality properties varied among AOCs and among sites within an AOC. For example, specific conductance was lowest at sites within the Ashtabula River AOC (*appendix 1*; ranged from 101–150 microsiemens per centimeter at 25°C) and greatest at the Maumee River AOC (*appendix 1*; ranged from 282–1,068 microsiemens per centimeter at 25°C). Table 6. Summary of surrogate or isotope dilution standard chemical recoveries in water and bottom-sediment samples.

USGS parameter code	Surrogate or isotope dilution standard	Mean percent recovery	Standard devia- tion of percent recovery	Number of sur- rogate samples analyzed		
	Surrogate standards analyzed in water samples submitted for laboratory method 4433					
62839	Bisphenol A-d ₃	76	22	111		
62840	Caffeine- ${}^{13}C_6$	76	15	131		
62841	Decafluorobiphenyl	53	12	131		
62842	Fluoranthene-d ₁₀	80	16	131		
	Isotope dilution standards analyzed in water sample	es submitted for resear	ch method 4434			
91680	16-Epiestriol-2,4-d ₂	71	9	130		
90827	17- <i>alpha</i> -Ethynylestradiol-2,4,16,16- <i>d</i> ₄	76	9	130		
91755	17-beta-Estradiol-13,14,15,16,17,18- ¹³ C ₆	74	9	130		
67309	Bisphenol A - d_{16}	88	12	130		
90781	Cholesterol-25,26,26,26,27,27,27- <i>d</i> ₇	75	8	130		
91616	Estriol-2,4,16,17- <i>d</i> ₄	84	8	60		
91756	Estrone-13,14,15,16,17,18- ¹³ C ₆	79	9	130		
91682	Medroxyprogesterone-d ₃	43	23	130		
90836	Mestranol-2,4,16,16- <i>d</i> ₄	77	8	130		
91683	Nandrolone-16,16,17-d ₃	65	15	130		
90832	<i>trans</i> -Diethyl-1,1,1',1'- d_4 -stilbestrol-3,3',5,5'- d_4	50	15	130		
	Surrogates standards analyzed with bottom-sediment sa	mples submitted for lab	oratory method 543	3		
90735	Bisphenol A-d ₃	32	9	73		
90737	Decafluorobiphenyl	29	9	73		
90738	Fluoranthene- <i>d</i> ₁₀	94	23	73		
	Isotope dilution standards analyzed with bottom-sediment	samples submitted for	research method 64	134		
91684	16-Epestriol-2,4-d ₂	63	27	75		
91805	17-alpha-Ethynylestradiol-2,4,16,16-d ₄	56	17	75		
91757	17-beta-Estradiol-13,14,15,16,17,18- ¹³ C ₆	51	22	75		
67310	Bisphenol A-d ₁₆	62	28	75		
90772	Cholesterol-25,26,26,26,27,27,27- <i>d</i> ₇	28	14	75		
91617	Estriol-2,4,16,17-d ₄	65	21	27		
91758	Estrone-13,14,15,16,17,18- ¹³ C ₆	69	26	75		
91686	Medroxyprogesterone-d ₃	45	26	75		
91813	Mestranol-2,4,16,16- <i>d</i> ₄	63	19	75		
91687	Nandrolone-16,16,17-d ₃	44	20	75		
91809	<i>trans</i> -Diethyl-1,1,1',1'- d_4 -stilbestrol-3,3',5,5'- d_4	26	15	75		
Surrogates standards analyzed with bottom-sediment samples submitted for research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals						
	Ethyl nicotinoate- d_4	17	10	82		
Carbamazepine-d ₁₀ 29 13		82				
Surr	ogates standards analyzed with bottom-sediment samples su	bmitted for research me	thod 9008 for antide	epressants		
	Carbamazepine- d_{10}	47	28	82		
	Fluoxetine- <i>d</i> ₅	8	8	82		
	Norfluoxetine-d ₅	11	11	82		

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; --, not applicable]

Water Data

During this study, 135 environmental and 23 field duplicate samples of surface water and wastewater effluent, 10 field blank water samples, and 11 field spike water samples were collected during 2010–11. The samples were analyzed at the USGS NWQL for a wide variety of chemicals.

Boron, nitrogen, and phosphorus were analyzed in a few water samples during 2010 as general indicators of wastewater (appendix 1). A broad suite of CECs were detected among all water samples. Sixty-one of the 69 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.002 to 11.2 μ g/L using method 4433 for wastewater indicators in water. Twenty-eight of the 48 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.0029 to 22.0 µg/L using research method 8244 for pharmaceuticals in water. Ten of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.16 to 10,000 nanograms per liter (ng/L) using research method 4434 for steroid hormones. The chemicals N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET); cholesterol; isophorone; tris(2-butoxyethyl)phosphate; bisphenol A; and caffeine were the most frequently detected chemicals among all water samples (detected in greater than 60 percent of the samples). Analytical results are presented in *appendix 1* for the environmental and field quality-assurance water samples.

Bottom-Sediment Data

During this study, 75 environmental samples, 13 field duplicate samples, and 9 field spike samples of bottom sediment and laboratory matrix spike samples were analyzed for a wide variety of CECs at the NWQL using method 5433 for wastewater indicators, research method 6434 for steroid hormones, and research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants. Forty-seven of the 57 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.921 to 25,800 ng/g using method 5433 for wastewater indicators. Seventeen of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.006 to 8,921 ng/g using research method 6434 for steroid hormones, sterols, and bisphenol A. Twelve of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 2.35 to 453.5 ng/g using research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals. Six of the 11 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 2.79 to 91.6 ng/g using research method 9008 for antidepressants. Analytical results are presented in appendix 2 (link to Excel spreadsheet) for the environmental and field quality-assurance bottom-sediment samples.

Tentatively Identified Chemicals in Water Samples

During 2010, environmental water samples were analyzed to determine the occurrence of non-target CECs at the NWQL by using custom method 2753. Concentration data from the custom method 2753 analysis are presented in a preliminary format in *appendix 3* (link to Excel spreadsheet) for the environmental and field quality-assurance samples. The estimated concentrations reported for tentatively identified chemcials (TICs) analyzed by using custom method 2753 are qualitative.

Summary

Synoptic surveys of surface-water quality across the United States have detected a large group of organic chemicals associated with agricultural, household, and industrial waste. These contaminants are referred to collectively as chemicals of emerging concern (CECs) and include prescription drugs and antibiotics, over-the-counter medications, reproductive hormones, personal-care products, detergent metabolites, and flame retardants. Research indicates that fish and wildlife can be affected by some of these CECs at environmentally relevant concentrations, producing developmental and reproductive problems.

The U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) cooperated with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) on a study to identify the occurrence of CECs in water and bottom-sediment samples collected during 2010–11 at sites in seven areas of concern (AOCs) throughout the Great Lakes. This report documents the collection methods, analyses methods, quality-assurance data and analyses, and provides the data for environmental samples collected for this study.

Field measurements and sample collections were completed from September 19, 2010, to September 6, 2011, by a combination of USGS, USFWS, and USEPA personnel. Study sites included tributaries to the Great Lakes in AOCs located near Duluth, Minn.; Green Bay, Wis.; Rochester, N.Y.; Detroit, Mich.; Toledo, Ohio; Milwaukee Wis.; and Ashtabula, Ohio. Water and bottom-sediment samples were analyzed at the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory in Denver, Colo., for a broad suite of chemicals that are indicators of industrial, domestic, and agricultural wastewaters using a variety of laboratory and research methods.

Few concentrations of chemicals analyzed in laboratory reagent blank samples were greater than environmental water and bottom-sediment sample concentrations. Almost all of the environmental sample concentrations were greater than three times the laboratory blank concentrations, indicating that laboratory contamination was not affecting environmental concentrations. Chemicals frequently detected in laboratory reagent blanks generally have raised laboratory reporting levels to ensure that false positives are not reported. Data from the field blank water samples generally indicate that field cleaning and sampling protocols were sufficient to avoid most contamination of environmental samples; however, three chemicals phenol, triphenyl phosphate, and 2-(butoxyethyl)phosphate in field blank water samples had concentrations that were greater than three times the concentration in the environmental samples. Therefore, the concentrations in those environmental samples were flagged in the dataset.

The combination of results from laboratory reagent spikes samples and field matrix spike samples provides information about laboratory performance with time, site-tosite differences due to matrix-specific analytical performance issues, and potentially differential bias in sample concentrations. Relatively higher percent recoveries for spike samples indicate that sample concentrations might be biased high, whereas relatively lower percent recoveries indicate that sample concentrations might be biased low in a sample due to matrix interference or other analytical issues. Acceptable chemical performance in a method generally is described as having mean percent recoveries between 60 and 120 percent. Percent recoveries for most of the chemicals analyzed in laboratory reagent spiked and field matrix spiked water samples were in this acceptable range; however, some chemicals had low percent recoveries, which might indicate that the reported concentrations in the environmental samples also are biased low, or that the risk is higher for false negatives (that is, that the true concentration exceeds the reported "less than").

Most of the mean percent recoveries for chemicals analyzed in laboratory reagent and field matrix spike samples for bottom sediment were in the acceptable range for method 5433 for analyses of wastewater indicators in bottom sediment and research method 6434 for analyses of steroid hormones in bottom sediment; however, the mean percent recoveries in the field matrix spike sample of chemicals analyzed using research method 9008 for analyses of for human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants were all less than 50 percent, indicating poor recovery of method chemicals.

During this study, 135 environmental and 23 field duplicate samples of surface water and wastewater effluent, 10 field blank water samples, and 11 field spike water samples were collected during 2010-11 and analyzed at the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory for a wide variety of CECs. Sixtyone of the 69 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.002 to 11.2 micrograms per liter using laboratory method 4433 for wastewater indicators in water. Twenty-eight of the 48 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.0029 to 22.0 micrograms per liter using research method 8244 for pharmaceuticals in water. Ten of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.16 to 10,000 nanograms per liter using research method 4434 for steroid hormones in water. The chemicals N,N-diethyl-meta-toluamide (DEET); cholesterol; isophorone; tris(2-butoxyethyl)phosphate; bisphenol A; and caffeine were the most frequently detected chemicals among all water samples (detected in greater than 60 percent of the samples). During 2010, environmental water samples also were analyzed to determine the occurrence of non-target CECs at the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory using custom laboratory method 2753. Data for the environmental and field quality-assurance samples from this analysis of tentatively

identified chemicals are presented in a preliminary format and are not considered quantitative.

During this study, 75 environmental, 13 field duplicate samples, and 9 field spike samples of bottom sediment were collected and analyzed for a wide variety of organic chemicals at the National Water Quality Laboratory using laboratory method 5433 for wastewater indicators, research method 6434 for steroid hormones, and research method 9008 for humanuse pharmaceuticals and antidepressants. Forty-seven of the 57 chemicals analyzed in bottom-sediment samples were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.92 to 25,800 nanograms per gram using method 5433 for wastewater indicators. Seventeen of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.006 to 8,921 nanograms per gram using research method 6434 for steroid hormones. Twelve of the 20 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 2.35 to 453.5 nanograms per gram using research method 9008 for human-use pharmaceuticals. Six of the 11 chemicals analyzed were detected at concentrations ranging from 2.79 to 91.6 nanograms per gram using research method 9008 for antidepressants.

Selected References

- Ahel, Marijan, Giger, Walter, and Koch, Markus, 1994a, Behaviour of alkylphenol polyethoxylate surfactants in the aquatic environment—I. Occurrence and transformation in sewage treatment: Water Research, v. 28, no. 5, p. 1,131–1,142.
- Ahel, Marijan, Giger, Walter, and Schaffner, Christian, 1994b, Behaviour of alkylphenol polyethoxylate surfactants in the aquatic environment—II. Occurrence and transformation in rivers: Water Research, v. 28, no. 5, p. 1,143–1,152.
- Ankley, G., Francis, E., Gray, E., Kavlock, R., McMaster, S., Reese, D., Sayles, G., Sergeant, A., and Vallero, D., 1998, Research plan for endocrine disruptors: Research Triangle Park, N.C., Office of Research and Development, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA600/R–98/087, 47 p.
- Antignac, J.P., Le Bizec, B., Monteau, F., and Andre, F., 2003, Validation of analytical methods based on mass spectrometric detection according to the "2002/657/EC" European decision—Guideline and application: Analytica Chimica Acta, v. 483, p. 325–334.
- Arbogast, B.F., 1996, Analytical methods for the Mineral Resource Surveys Program: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 96–525, 248 p.

Barber, L.B., Brown, G.K., and Zaugg, S.D., 2000, Potential endocrine disrupting organic chemicals in treated municipal wastewater and river water, *in* Keith, L.H., Jones-Lepp, T.L., and Needham, L.L., eds., Analysis of environmental endocrine disruptors: Washington, D.C., American Chemical Society Symposium Series 747, p. 97–123.

Barber, L.B., Furlong, E.T., Keefe, S.H., Brown, G.K., and Cahill, J.D., 2003, Natural and contaminant organic compounds in the Boulder Creek watershed, Colorado, during high-flow and low-flow conditions, 2000, *in* Murphy, S.F., Verplanck, P.L., and Barber, L. B., eds., Comprehensive water quality of the Boulder Creek watershed, Colorado, during high-flow and low-flow conditions, 2000: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 03–4045, p. 103–144.

Barber, L.B., Keefe, S.H., Brown, G.K., Taylor, H.E., Antweiler, R.C., Peart, D.B., Plowman, T.I., Roth, D.A., and Wass, R.D., 2003, Organic and trace element contaminants in water biota, sediment, and semipermeable membrane devices at the Tres Rios Treatment Wetlands, Phoenix, Arizona: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 03–4129, 89 p.

Barber, L.B., Lee, K.E., Swackhammer, D.L., and Schoenfuss, H.L., 2007, Reproductive responses of male fathead minnows exposed to wastewater-treatment plant effluent, effluent treated with XAD8 resin, and an environmentally relevant mixture of alkylphenol compounds: Aquatic Toxicology, v. 82, p. 36–46.

Barnes, K.K., Kolpin, D.W., Focazio, M.J., Furlong, E.T., Meyer, M.T., Zaugg, S.D., Haack, S.K., Barber, L.B., and Thurman, E.M., 2008, Water-quality data for pharmaceuticals and other organic wastewater contaminants in groundwater and in untreated drinking water sources in the United States, 2000–01: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2008–1293, 7 p. plus tables. (Also available at http:// pubs.usgs.gov/of/2008/1293/pdf/OFR2008-1293.pdf.)

Barnes, K.K., Kolpin, D.W., Meyer, M.T., Thurman, E.M., Furlong, E.T., Zaugg, S.D., and Barber, L.B., 2002, Waterquality data for pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999– 2000: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 02–94, 7 p.

Bistodeau, T.J., Barber, L.B., Bartell, S.E., Cediel, R.A., Grove, K.J., Klaustermeier, Jacob, Woodard, J.C., Lee, K.L., and Schoenfuss, H.L., 2006, Larval exposure to environmentally relevant mixtures of alkylphenolethoxylates reduces reproductive competence in male fathead minnows: Aquatic Toxicology, v. 79, p. 268–277.

Bjerregaard, L.B., Korsgaard, B., and Bjerregaard, P., 2006, Intersex in wild roach (*Rutilus rutilus*) from Danish sewage effluent-receiving streams: Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, v. 64, p. 321–328. Blazer, V.S., Iwanowicz, L.R., Henderson, H., Mazik, P.M., Jenkins, J.A., Alvarez, D.A., and Young, J.A., 2012, Reproductive endocrine disruption in smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieu*) in the Potomac River Basin—Spatial and temporal comparisons of biological effects: Environmental Monitoring and Assessesment, v. 184, no. 7, p. 4,309–4,334.

Brown, C.J.M., Knight, B.W., McMaster, M.E., Munkittrick, K.R., Oakes, K.D., Tetreault, G.R., and Servos, M.R., 2011, The effects of tertiary treated municipal wastewater on fish communities of a small tributary in southern Ontario, Canada: Environmental Pollution, v. 159, p. 1,923–1,931.

Brown, K.D., Kulis, J., Thomson, B., Chapman, T.H., and Mawhinney, D.B., 2006, Occurrence of antibiotics in hospital, residential, and dairy effluent, municipal wastewater, and the Rio Grande in New Mexico: Science of the Total Environment, v. 366, p. 772–783.

Burkhardt, M.R., Zaugg, S.D., Smith, S.G., and ReVello, R.C., 2006, Determination of wastewater compounds in sediment and soil by pressurized solvent extraction, solid-phase extraction, and capillary-column gas chromatography/ mass spectrometry: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 5, chap. B2, 90 p.

Buser, H.R., Poiger, T., and Muller, M.D., 1999, Occurrence and environmental behavior of the chiral pharmaceutical drug ibuprofen in surface waters and in wastewater: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 33, p. 2,529–2,535.

Cahill, J.D., Furlong, E.T., Burkhardt, M.R., Kolpin, D.W., and Anderson, L.R., 2004, Determination of pharmaceutical compounds in surface- and ground-water samples by solidphase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray-ionization mass spectromentry: Journal of Chromatography A, v. 1041, p. 171–180.

Carrara, C., Ptacel, C.J., Robertson, W.D., Blowes, D.W., Moncur, M.C., Sverko, E., and Backus, S., 2008, Fate of pharmaceutical and trace organic compounds in three septic system plumes, Ontario, Canada: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 42, p. 2,805–2,811.

Childress, C.J.O., Foreman, W.T., Connor, B.F., and Maloney, T.J., 1999, New reporting procedures based on longterm method detection levels and some considerations for interpretations of water-quality data provided by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 99–193, 19 p.

Conn, K.E., Barber, L.B., Brown, G.K., and Siegrist, R.L., 2006, Occurrence and fate of organic contaminants during onsite wastewater treatment: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 40, no. 23, p. 7,358–7,366.

18 Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011

Desbrow, C., Routledge, E.J., Brighty, G.C., Sumpter, J.P., and Waldock, M., 1998, Identification of estrogenic chemicals in STW effluent—1. Chemical fractionation and *in vitro* biological screening: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 32, p. 1,549–1,558.

Drewes, J.E., Hemming, J., Ladenburger, S.J., Schauer, J., and Sonzogni, W., 2005, An assessment of endocrine disrupting activity changes during wastewater treatment through the use of bioassays and chemical measurements: Water Environment Research, v. 77, p. 12–23.

Ferrer, I., Barber, L.B., and Thurman, E.M., 2009, Gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric fragmentation study of phytoestrogens as their trimethylsilyl derivatives—Identification in soy milk and wastewater samples: Journal of Chromatography A, v. 1216, p. 6,024–6,032.

Fisher, H.B., List, E.J., Koh, R.C.Y., Imberger, J., and Brooks, N.H., 1979, Mixing in inland and coastal waters: New York, Academic Press, 483 p.

Fishman, M.J., Raese, J.W., Gerlitz, C.N., and Husband, R.A., 1994, U.S. Geological Survey approved inorganic and organic methods for the analysis of water and fluvial sediment, 1954–94: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 94–351, 55 p.

Folmar, L.C., Denslow, N.D., Kroll, K., Orlando, E.F., Enblom, J., Marcino, J., Metcalfe, C., and Guillette, L.J., Jr., 2001, Altered serum sex steroids and vitellogenin induction in walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum*) collected near a metropolitan sewage treatment plant: Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, v. 40, p. 392–398.

Folmar, L.C., Denslow, N.D., Rao, V., Chow, M., Crain, D.A., Enblom, J., Marcino, J., and Guillette, L.J., Jr., 1996, Vitellogenin induction and reduced serum testosterone concentrations in feral male carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) captured near a major metropolitan sewage treatment plant: Environmental Health Perspectives, v. 104, p. 1,096–1,101.

Fono, L.J., Kolodziej, E.P., and Sedlak, D.L., 2006, Attenuation of wastewater-derived contaminants in an effluentdominated river: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 36, no. 6, p. 7,257–7,262.

Foreman, W.T., and Green, R.B., 2008, Guidelines for method validation and publication at the National Water Quality Laboratory: National Water Quality Laboratory Standard Operating Procedure MRDX0015.3. Foreman, W.T., Gray, J.L., ReVello, R.C., Lindley, C.E., Losche, S.A., and Barber, L.B., 2012, Determination of steroid hormones and related compounds in filtered and unfiltered water by solid-phase extraction, derivatization, and gas chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 5, sec. B, chap. 9, 118 p. Also available at http://pubs.usgs. gov/tm/5b9/.

Furlong, E.T., Gray, J.L., Quanrud, D.M., Teske, S.E., Esposito, K., Marine, J., Ela, W.P., Phillips, P.J., Kolpin, D.W., and Stinson, B., 2010, Fate of estrogenic compounds during municipal sludge stabilization and dewatering: Water Environment Research Foundation Final Project Report No. 04–HHE–6, p. 178.

Furlong, E.T., Werner, S.L., Anderson, B.D., and Cahill, J.D., 2008, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory—Determination of human-health pharmaceuticals in filtered water by chemically modified styrene-divinylbenzene resin-based solidphase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 5, chap. B5, 56 p.

Furlong, E.T., Werner, S.L., Anderson, B.D., and Cahill, J.D., 2008, Determination of human-health pharmaceuticals in filtered water by chemically modified styrene-divinylbenzene resin-based solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 5, sec. B, chap. B5, 56 p.

Gagnaire, B., Gagné, F., André, C., Blaise, C., Abbaci, K., Budzinski, H., Dévier, M.H., and Garric, J., 2009, Development of biomarkers of stress related to endocrine disruption in gastropods—Alkali-labile phosphates, protein-bound lipids and vitellogenin-like proteins: Aquatic Toxicology, v. 5, p. 155–167.

Garbarino, J.R., and Taylor, H.E., 1979, An inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometric method for routine water quality testing: Applied Spectroscopy, v. 33, p. 220–226.

Garbarino, J.R., and Taylor, H.E., 1994, Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometric method for the determination of dissolved trace elements in natural water: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 94–358, 88 p.

Glassmeyer, S.T., Furlong, E.T., Kolpin, D.W., Cahill, J.D., Zaugg, S.D., Werner, S.L., Meyer, M.T., and Kryak, D.D., 2005, Transport of chemical and microbial compounds from known wastewater discharges—Potential for use as indicators of human fecal contamination: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 39, p.257–269. Global Water Research Coalition, 2003, Endocrine disrupting compounds, priority list of EDCs, September 2003: London, Global Water Research Coalition, 29 p.

Godfrey, E., Woessner, W.W., and Benotti, M.J., 2008, Pharmaceuticals in on-site sewage effluent and ground water, western Montana: Ground Water, v. 45, p. 263–271.

Goni-Urriza, M., Capdepuy, M., Arpin, C., Raymond, N., Caumette, P., and Quentin, C., 2000, Impact of an urban effluent on antibiotic resistance of riverine *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Aeromonas spp.*: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 66, p. 125–132.

Goodbred, S.G., Gilliom, R.J., Gross, T.S., Denslow, N.D., Bryant, W.L., and Schoeb, T.R., 1997, Reconnaissance of 17β-estradiol, 11-ketotestosterone, vitellogenin, and gonad histopathology in common carp of the United States streams—Potential for contaminant-induced endocrine disruption: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 96–627, 47 p.

Guy, H.P., 1969, Laboratory theory and methods for sediment analysis: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 5, chap. C1, 58 p.

Helsel, D.R., 2005, Nondetects and data analysis: New York, Wiley, 250 p.

Hinck, J.E., Blazer, V.S., Denslow, N.D., Gross, T.S., Echols, K.R., Davis, A.P., May, T.W., Orazio, C.E., Coyle, J.J., and Tillet, D.E., 2006, Biomonitoring of environmental status and trends program—Environmental contaminants, health indicators, and reproductive biomarkers in fish from the Colorado River Basin: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2006–5163, 119 p.

Hinck, J.E., Blazer, V.S., Schmitt, C.J., Papoulias, D.M., and Tillitt, D.E., 2009, Widespread occurrence of intersex in black basses (*Micropterus* spp.) from U.S. rivers, 1995– 2004: Aquatic Toxicology, v. 95, p. 60–70.

Huang, C.H., and Sedlak, D.L., 2001, Analysis of estrogenic hormones in municipal wastewater effluent and surface water using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and gas chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry: Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, v. 20, p. 133–139.

Iguchi, T., Watanabe, H., and Katsu, Y., 2001, Developmental effects of estrogenic agents on mice, fish and frogs—A mini review: Hormonal Behavior, v. 40, p. 248–251.

International Joint Commission, 2012, Areas of concern in the Great Lakes: accessed January 2012, at *http://www.ijc.org/rel/boards/annex2/aoc_php/index.html*.

Iowa Department of Natural Resources, 2007, Open feedlots listed in the Iowa Department of Natural Resources' animal feeding operations database accessed June 2010, at *ftp://ftp. igsb.uiowa.edu/gis_library/ia_state/agriculture/AFO_open_ feedlots.zip*.

Jobling, S., Sheahan, D., Osborne, J.A., Matthiessen, P., and Sumpter, J.P., 1996, Inhibition of testicular growth in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), exposed to estrogenic alkylphenolic chemicals: Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, v. 15, p. 194–202.

Jobling, Susan, and Sumpter, J.P., 1993, Detergent components in sewage effluent are weakly estrogenic to fish—An *in vitro* study using rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) hepatocytes: Aquatic Toxicology, v. 27, p. 361–372.

Johnson, A.C., and Sumpter, J.P., 2001, Removal of endocrinedisrupting chemicals in activated sludge treatment works: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 35, p. 4,697– 4,703.

Kilpatrick, F.A., and Wilson, J.F., Jr., 1989, Measurement of time of travel in streams by dye tracing: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 3, chap. A9, 27 p.

Kim, S.C., and Carlson, K., 2007, Quantification of human and veterinary antibiotics in water and sediments using SPE/LC/ MS/MS method: Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, v. 387, p. 1,301–1,315.

Kime, D.E., 1998, Endocrine disruption in fish: Boston, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 396 p.

Kinney, C.A., Furlong, E.T., Werner, S.L., and Cahill, J.D., 2006, Presence and distribution of wastewater-derived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water: Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, v. 25, p. 317–326.

Kolpin, D.W., Furlong, E.T., Meyer, M.T., Thurman, E.M., Zaugg, S.D., Barber, L.B., and Buxton, H.T., 2002, Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999–2000—A national reconnaissance: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 36, p. 1,202–1,211.

Kostich, M.S., and Lazorchak, J.M., 2008, Risks to aquatic organisms posed by human pharmaceutical use: Science of the Total Environment, v. 389, no. 2–3, p. 329–339.

Lajeunesse, A., Gagnon, C., and Sauve, S., 2008, Determination of basic antidepressants and their *n*-desmethyl metabolites in raw sewage and wastewater using solidphase extraction and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: Analytical Chemistry, v. 80, p. 5,325–5,333.

20 Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011

Lee, K.E., and Blazer, V., 2005, Endocrine disruption in Minnesota fish—A comparison of fish species *Cyprinus carpio* and *Micropterus*: Madison, Wis., Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, v. 136, p. 381–388.

Lee, K.E., Barber, L.B., Furlong, E.T., Cahill, J.D., Kolpin, D.W., Meyer, M.T., and Zaugg, S.D., 2004, Presence and distribution of organic wastewater compounds in wastewater, surface, ground, and drinking waters, Minnesota, 2000–02: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2004–5138, 47 p. (Also available at http://pubs.usgs. gov/sir/2004/5138/.)

Lee, K.E., Blazer, V.S., Denslow, N.D., Goldstein, R.M., and Talmage, P.J., 2000, Use of biological characteristics of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) to indicate exposure to hormonally active agents in selected Minnesota streams: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigation Report 00–4202, 47 p. (Also available at *http://mn.water.usgs.gov/ publications/pubs/00-4202.pdf.*)

Lee, K.E., Schoenfuss, H.L., Barber, L.B., Writer, J.H., Blazer, V.S., Kiesling, R.L., and Ferrey, M.L., 2010, Endocrine active chemicals and endocrine disruption in Minnesota stream and lakes—Implications for aquatic resources, 1994–2008: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2010–5107, 47 p. with appendixes (Also available at http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2010/5107/.)

Lee, K.E., Schoenfuss, H.L., Jahns, N.D., Brown, G.K., and Barber, L.B., 2008, Alkylphenols, other endocrine-active chemicals, and fish responses in three streams in Minnesota—Study design and data, February–September 2007: U.S. Geological Survey Data Series 405, 44 p., accessed August 14, 2009, at *http://pubs.usgs.gov/ds/405/*.

Lee, K.E., Yaeger, C.S., Jahns, N.D., and Schoenfuss, H.L., 2008, Occurrence of endocrine active compounds and biological responses in the Mississippi River—Study design and data, June–August 2006: U.S. Geological Survey Data Series 368, 27 p., accessed August 14, 2009, at *http://pubs.usgs.gov/ds/368/*.

Loper, C.A., Crawford, J.K., Otto, K.L., Manning, R.L., Meyer, M.T., and Furlong, E.T., 2007, Concentrations of selected pharmaceuticals and antibiotics in south-central Pennsylvania waters, March through September 2006: U.S. Geological Survey Data Series 300, 101 p.

Maloney, T.J., ed., 2005, Quality management system, U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2005–1263, v. 1.3, chapters and appendixes variously paged.

Martinovic, Dalma, Denny, J.S., Schmieder, P.K., Ankley, G.T., and Sorensen, P.W., 2008, Temporal variation in the estrogenicity of a sewage treatment plant effluent and its biological significance: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 42, p. 3,421–3,427. Mayer, T., Bennie, D., Rosa, F., Rekas, G., Palabrica, V., and Schachtschneider, J., 2007, Occurrence of alkylphenolic substances in a Great Lakes coastal marsh, Cootes Paradise, ON, Canada: Environmental Pollution, v. 147, p. 683–690.

Miles-Richardson, S.R., Kramer, V.J., Fitzgerald, S.D., Render, J.A., Yamini, B., Barbee, S.J., and Giesy, J.P., 1999, Effects of waterborne exposure of 17β-estradiol on secondary sex characteristics and gonads of fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*): Aquatic Toxicology, v. 47, p. 129–145.

Minnesota Office of the Revisor of Statutes, 2010, Minnesota Administrative Rules 7053.0215, requirements for point source discharges of sewage: accessed December 3, 2010, at *https://www.revisor.mn.gov/rules/?id=7053.0215*.

Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, 2009, Feedlots tracked by MPCA, Minnesota Pollution Control Agency Delta database, accessed November 2009, at *ftp://files.pca.state. mn.us/pub/feedlots*.

Morlock, S.E., Nguyen, H.T., and Ross, J.H., 2002, Feasibility of acoustic doppler velocity meters for the production of discharge records from U.S. Geological Survey streamflowgaging stations: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 01–4157, 59 p.

National Agriculture Imagery Program, 2008, U.S. Department of Agriculture Farm Service Agency Color Aerial Photography [WMS Source]: accessed November 2009, at http://www.mngeo.state.mn.us/chouse/wms/wms_image_ server description.html.

National Research Council, 1999, Hormonally active agents in the environment: Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, 429 p.

Nentwig, Gerrit, 2007, Effects of pharmaceuticals on aquatic invertebrates. Part II—the antidepressant drug fluoxetine: Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, v. 52, p. 163–170.

Noriega, M.C., Wydoski, D.S., and Foreman, W.T., 2004, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory—Determination of organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in bottom and suspended sediment by gas chromatography with electroncapture detection: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 03–4293, 46 p.

Oblinger Childress, C.J., Foreman, W.T., Connor, B.F., and Maloney, T.J, 1999, New reporting procedures based on long-term method detection levels and some considerations for interpretations of water-quality data provided by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 99–193, 19 p. Painter, M.M., Buerkley, M.A., Julius, M.L., Vajda, A.M., Norris, D.O., Barber, L.B., Furlong, E.T., Schultz, M.M., and Schoenfuss, H.L., 2010, Antidepressants at environmentally relevant concentrations affect predator avoidance behavior of larval fathead minnows (*Pimphales promelas*): Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, v. 28, p. 2,677– 2,684.

Parks, L.G., Cheek, A.O., Denslow, N.D., Heppell, S.A., McLachlan, J.A., LeBlanc, G.A., and Sullivan, C.V., 1999, Fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) vitellogenin— Purification, characterization and quantitative immunoassay for the detection of estrogenic compounds: Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Pharmacology, Toxicology and Endocrinology, v. 123, p. 113–125.

Patton, C.J., and Truitt, E.P., 1992, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory—Determination of total phosphorus by a Kjeldahl digestion method and an automated colorimetric finish that includes dialysis: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 92–146, 39 p.

Pojana, G., Gomiero, A., Jonkers, N., and Marcomini, A., 2007, Natural and synthetic endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) in water, sediment and biota of a coastal lagoon: Environment International, v. 33, p. 929–936.

Rantz, S.E., and others, 1982a, Measurement and computation of streamflow—1. Measurement of stage and discharge: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2175, p. 1–284.

Rantz, S.E., and others, 1982b, Measurement and computation of streamflow—2. Computation of discharge: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2175, p. 285–631.

Richardson, M.L., and Bowron, J.M., 1985, The fate of pharmaceutical chemicals in the aquatic environment: Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, v. 37, p. 1–12.

Runkel, R.L., 2002, A new metric for determining the importance of transient storage: Journal North American Benthological Society, v. 21, p. 529–543.

Sando, S.K., Furlong, E.T., Meyer, M.T., and Bartholomay, R.C., 2005, Occurrence of organic wastewater compounds in wastewater effluent and the Big Sioux River in the Upper Big Sioux River Basin, South Dakota, 2003–2004: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2005– 5249, 108 p.

Schaffner, C., and Giger, W., 1984, Determination of nitrolotriacetic acid in water by high-resolution gas chromatography: Journal of Chromatography A, v. 312, p. 413–421. Schoenfuss, H.L., 2003, The need for novel approaches in assessing the biological impact of biologically active compounds in water, *in* Masters, R., ed., International Conference on Pharmaceuticals and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals, 3rd, Minneapolis, Minn., 2003, Proceedings: Minneapolis, Minn., p. 103–121.

Schoenfuss, H.L., Bartell, S.E., Bistodeau, T.B., Cediel, R.A., Grove, K.J., Zintek, L., Lee, K.E., and Barber, L.B., 2008, Impairment of the reproductive potential of male fathead minnows by environmentally relevant exposures to 4-nonylphenol: Aquatic Toxicology, v. 86, p. 91–98.

Schoenfuss, H.L., Levitt, J.T., Van Der Kraak, G., and Sorensen, P.W., 2002, Ten-week exposure to treated sewage discharge has relatively minor, variable effects on reproductive behavior and sperm production in goldfish: Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, v. 21, p. 2,185–2,190.

Schoenfuss, H.L., Martinovic, D., and Sorensen, P.W., 2001, Effects of exposure to low levels of water-borne 17ß-estradiol on nest holding ability and sperm quality in fathead minnows: Water Resources Update, v. 120, p. 49–55.

Schultz, M.M., and Furlong, E.T., 2008, Trace analysis of antidepressant pharmaceuticals and their select degradates in environmental aquatic matrices by LC/ESI/MS/MS: Analalytical Chemistry, v. 80, p. 1,756–1,762.

Schultz, M.M., Furlong, E.T., Kolpin, D.W., Werner, S.L., Schoenfuss, H.L., Barber, L.B., Blazer, V.S., Norris, D.O., and Vajda, A.M., 2010, Antidepressant pharmaceuticals in two U.S. effluent-impacted streams—Occurrence and fate in water and sediment, and selective uptake in fish neural tissue: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 44, no. 6, p. 1,918–1,925.

Streets, S., Ferrey, M., Solem, L., Preimesberger, A., and Hoff, P., 2008, Endocrine disrupting compounds—A report to the Minnesota Legislature: Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, variously paged.

Stumpf, M., Ternes, T.A., Haberer, K., and Seel, P., 1996, Determination of pharmaceuticals in sewage plants and river water: Vom Wasser, v. 86, p. 291–303.

Taylor, H.E., 2001, Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry—Practices and techniques: San Diego, Calif., Academic Press, 294 p.

Ternes, T.A., 1998, Occurrence of drugs in German sewage treatment plants and rivers: Water Research, v. 32, no. 11, p. 3,245–3,260.

Ternes, T.A., Stumpf, M., Mueller, J., Haberer, K., Wilken, R.D., and Servos, M., 1999, Behavior and occurrence of estrogens in municipal sewage treatment plants—I. Investigations in Germany, Canada, and Brazil: Science of the Total Environment, v. 225, p. 81–90.

22 Chemicals of Emerging Concern in Water and Bottom Sediment in Great Lakes Areas of Concern, 2010 to 2011

Timme, P.J., 1995, National Water Quality Laboratory 1995 services catalog: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 95–352, p. 92.

Tyler Industrial Products, 1976, Testing sieves and their uses: Cleveland, Ohio, W.S. Tyler Co., Handbook 53, 48 p.

U.S. Census Bureau, 2002, TIGER/Line data, U.S. 2000 Block Group vector digital data, accessed 2009, at *ftp://hqwiftp. er:usgs.gov/pub/kjh/gis02/pop00.html.*

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1993, Methods for the determination of inorganic substances in environmental samples—Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory, Cincinnati, Ohio: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency EPA/600/R–93/100, variously paged.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2005, Guidelines establishing test procedures for the analysis of pollutants Title 40 (App. B, Part 136, Definition and procedures for the determination of the method detection limit): U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, p. 319–322.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 2012, Great Lakes Restoration Initiative—Early warning program for emerging contaminants," accessed September 10, 2012, at *http://www.fws. gov/glri/ToxicEarlyWarning.htm*.

U.S. Geological Survey, 2008, The National Hydrography Dataset, high resolution: accessed 2008, at *http://nhd.usgs.gov/data.html*.

U.S. Geological Survey, 2009, StreamStats for Minnesota Interactive map 2009, accessed November 2009, at *http://water.usgs.gov/osw/streamstats/minnesota.html*.

U.S. Geological Survey, 2010, Changes to the reporting convention and to data qualification approaches for selected analyte results reported by the National Water Quality Laboratory (NWQL): Office of Water Quality Technical Memorandum 2010.07, unpaged, accessed June 2012, at *http://water.usgs.gov/admin/memo/QW/qw10.07.html*.

U.S. Geological Survey, variously dated, National field manual for the collection of water-quality data: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chaps. A1–A9, accessed July 8, 2009, at *http://pubs. water.usgs.gov/twri9A*.

Vajda, A.M., Barber, L.B., Gray, J.L., Lopez, E.M., Woodling, J.D., and Norris, D.O., 2008, Reproductive disruption in fish downstream from an estrogenic wastewater effluent: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 42, p. 3,407–3,414.

Weishaar, J.L., Aiken, G.R., Bergamaschi, B.A., Fram, M.S., Fujii, R., and Mopper, K., 2003, Evaluation of specific ultraviolet absorbance as an indicator of the chemical composition and reactivity of dissolved organic carbon: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 37, p. 4,702–4,708. Wershaw, R.L., Fishman, M.J., Grabbe, R.R., and Lowe, L.E., eds., 1987, Methods for the determination of organic substances in water and fluvial sediments: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 5, chap. A3, 80 p.

Wilde, F.D., Radtke, D.B., Gibs, Jacob, and Iwatsubo, R.T., eds., 2004 with updates through 2009, Processing of water samples (version 2.2): U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A5, accessed July 20, 2010, at *http://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A5/*. [Separate updates for 5.3.2, "Instruction for field use of spike solutions for organic-analyte samples;" 5.6.1.F, "Wastewater, pharmaceutical, and antibiotic compounds;"
5.6.4.A, "Arsenic speciation;" and 5.6.4.B, "Low-level Mercury" are provided on the Web page.]

Wilson, V.S., Bobseine, K., and Gray, L.E., Jr., 2004, Development and characterization of a cell line that stably expresses an estrogen-responsive luciferase reporter for the detection of estrogen receptor agonist and antagonists: Toxicological Sciences, v. 81, p. 69–77.

Wilson, V.S., Cardon, M.C., Gray, L.E., Jr., and Hartig, P.C., 2007, Competitive binding comparison of endocrine-disrupting compounds to recombinant androgen receptor from fathead minnow, rainbow trout, and human: Environmental Toxicology Chemistry, v. 26, p. 1,793–1,802.

Woodling, J.D., Lopez, E.M., Maldonado, T.A., Norris, D.O., and Vajda, A.M., 2006, Intersex and other reproductive disruption of fish in wastewater effluent dominated Colorado streams: Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C, v. 144, p. 10–15.

Writer, J.H., Barber, L.B., Brown, G.K., Taylor, H.E., Kiesling, R.L., Ferrey, M.L., Jahns, N.D., Bartell, S.E., and Schoenfuss, H.L., 2010, Anthropogenic tracers, endocrine active chemicals, and endocrine disruption in Minnesota lakes: Science of the Total Environment, v. 409, no. 1, p. 100–111.

Zaugg, S.D., Smith, S.G., and Schroeder, M.P., 2006, Determination of wastewater compounds in whole water by continuous liquid-liquid extraction and capillary-column gas chromatography/mass spectrometry: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 5, chap. B4, 30 p.

Zaugg, S.D., Smith, S.G., Schroeder, M.P., Barber, L.B., and Burkhardt, M.R., 2002, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey Water Quality Laboratory—Determination of wastewater compounds by polystyrene-divinylbenzene solid-phase extraction and capillary-column gas chromatography/mass spectrometry: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 01–4186, 37 p. Zaugg, A.D., Werner, S.L., Meyer, M.T., and Kryak, D.D., 2005, Transport of chemicals and microbial compounds from known wastewater discharges—Potential for use as indicators of human fecal contamination: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 39, no. 14, p. 5,157–5,169.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 2012, accessed September 11, 2012, at *http://www.fws.gov/glri/ToxicEarlyWarning.htm*.

Appendixes 1–3

These data files are included with the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) Data Series 723 and are available for download at *http://pubs.usgs.gov/ds/723/ downloads*. See report text for details about the study. The data tables are available for download in Microsoft[®] Excel (.xlsx) format. The *read me* contains information about the data. There are three appendixes included in this report.

Appendix 1. Concentrations of chemicals in water samples and associated quality-assurance samples analyzed at the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory.

The Excel spreadsheet "*Appendix_1.xlsx*" contains water-quality properties (dissolved oxygen, pH, specific conductance, and water temperature). This spreadsheet also contains chemical concentrations for water samples and associated quality-assurance samples analyzed at the U.S. Geological Survey's National Water Quality Laboratory in Denver, Colo., for boron, total nitrogen, and total phosphorus (laboratory methods 2354, 2333, and 2756, respectively); laboratory method 4433 for wastewater indicators; research method 8244 for pharmaceuticals; and research method 4434 for steroid hormones, sterols, and bisphenol *A*. The recoveries of associated surrogate standards or isotope dilution standards also are contained in this spreadsheet.

Appendix 2. Concentrations of chemicals in bottom-sediment samples and associated qualityassurance samples analyzed at the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory.

The Excel spreadsheet "*Appendix_2.xlsx*" contains chemical concentrations for bottom-sediment samples and associated quality-assurance samples analyzed at the U.S. Geological Survey's National Water Quality Laboratory in Denver, Colo., for carbon; wastewater indicators using laboratory method 5433; steroid hormones, sterols, and bisphenol *A* using research method 6434; and human-use pharmaceuticals and antidepressants using research method 9008. The recoveries of associated surrogate standards or isotope dilution standards also are contained in this spreadsheet. This spreadsheet also contains particle-size analyses for bottom-sediment samples.

Appendix 3. Occurrence and estimated concentrations of tentatively identified chemicals in water samples and quality-assurance samples analyzed at the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory using custom laboratory method 2753.

The Excel spreadsheet "*Appendix_3.xlsx*" contains estimated concentrations of non-target chemicals of emerging concern analyzed at the U.S. Geological Survey's National Water Quality Laboratory using custom method 2753. The data from this analysis are presented in a preliminary format and are not considered quantitative. Reported compounds were identified by matching their mass spectrum to a reference mass spectrum in the National Institute of Standards and Technology NIST05a mass spectral reference library. The mass spectrometer was not calibrated for the quantitative determination of any of the analytes reported by this analysis. Thus, the results presented are compounds analyzed by using custom method 2753 are qualitative, and should not be considered quantitative rather than quantitative because the provided concentrations could not be accurately determined. Tentatively identified chemicals are reported as approximate concentrations and are most suitable as indications of the chemical presence.

Publishing support provided by: Rolla Publishing Service Center

For more information concerning this publication, contact: Director, USGS Minnesota Water Science Center 2280 Woodale Drive Mounds View, Minnesota 55112 (763) 783-3100

Or visit the Minnesota Water Science Center Web site at: *http://mn.water.usgs.gov/*